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TO THE MEMBERS

NOTICE is hereby given that the 52nd Annual General Mee!ng of the Members of Assam Carbon Products Limited will be held 

on Friday, the 18th day of September, 2015 at 11.45 A.M.  at the registered office at Birkuchi, Guwaha! – 781 026 to transact 

the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31st March, 2015, the Balance Sheet as at 

that date, and the Reports of the Directors’ and Auditors’ thereon.

2. To appoint a Director in place of Mr Neil Hoyland, who re!res by rota!on and, being eligible, offers himself for re-

appointment.

3. To appoint a Director in place of Mr Ralph Gomarsall, who re!res by rota!on and, being eligible, offers himself for re-

appointment.

4. To appoint Auditors and to fix their remunera!on and this regard to consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without 

modifica!on(s), the following resolu!on as an Ordinary Resolu!on:

 “RESOLVED THAT M/s D. Basu & Co, Chartered Accountants, be and is hereby appointed as the Auditor of the Company, to 

hold office from the conclusion of this Annual General Mee!ng un!l the conclusion of the next Annual General Mee!ng 

of the Company on such remunera!on as fixed by the Board of Directors of the Company”.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modifica!on(s) the following Resolu!on as Special Resolu!on:

5.    Waiver of excess remunera!on payable to Mr R Himatsingka, Non Whole !me Director for the year ended 31st March, 
2015:

 “RESOLVED THAT the company, pursuant to provisions of sec!on 197 and such other applicable provisions, if any, of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and subject to approval of the Central Government do waive the recovery of the remunera!on for 

the year ended 31st March, 2015 payable in excess of the limits prescribed in sec!ons 197 read with Schedule V and 

other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 to Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, Non Whole Time Director of 

the Company.”

6.  Appointment of Mr K K Bha"acharya, Managing Director: 

 “RESOLVED THAT in accordance with sec!on 196 and 203 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act 2013, 

read with Schedule V or any amendment or modifica!on thereof and subject to the approval of the shareholders of the 

company, if any, and the Central Government, if any,  the Company do and hereby approves the appointment of Mr. K 

K Bha%acharya as the Managing Director of the company w.e.f 9th October 2014 on the terms and condi!ons including 

remunera!on as set out in the agreement to be entered into between the company and Mr Bha%acharya”. 

 “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the appointment and terms of remunera!on of Mr. K K Bha%acharya, Managing Director 

of the Company and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and subject to the approval of the 

Central Government, the Company hereby approves with effect from 9th October 2013,  the payment of remunera!on, 

as minimum remunera!on in case of no or inadequacy of profits for the period of his contract.”

 “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorized to take all such steps as may be necessary and proper 

to give effect to this Resolu!on”.

 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modifica!on(s) the following Resolu!on as Ordinary Resolu!on:

7.   Appointment of Mr S K Lhila as Independent Director 

 “RESOLVED THAT Mr. S K Lhila, an Addi!onal Director of the Company and in the Independent Category and who holds 

office upto the date of this Annual General Mee!ng under Sec!on 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Ar!cle 94 

of the Company’s Ar!cles of Associa!on be and is hereby appointed an Independent Director of the Company in terms of 

sec!on 149 of the Companies Act 2013.”

NOTICE
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8.   Appointment of Mrs Rupanjana De as Independent Director 

 “RESOLVED THAT Mrs. Rupanjana De, an Addi!onal Director of the Company and in the Independent Category and  who 

holds office upto the date of this Annual General Mee!ng under Sec!on 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Ar!cle 

94 of the Company’s Ar!cles of Associa!on be and is hereby appointed an Independent Director of the Company in terms 

of sec!on 149 of the Companies Act 2013.”

 By Order of the Board

Place: 13th June 2015 Saugata De

Date:  Kolkata Company Secretary

NOTES:

1. A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THIS MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A PROXY TO ATTEND AND 
VOTE INSTEAD IN HIS OR HER PLACE, AND A PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER.  PROXIES IN ORDER TO BE EFFECTIVE 
MUST BE RECEIVED AT THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY NOT LESS THAN FORTY-EIGHT HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING.

 A person can act as a proxy on behalf of Members not exceeding fi"y and holding in the aggregate not more than ten 
percent of the total Share Capital of the Company carrying vo#ng rights. A Member holding more than ten percent of 
the total Share Capital of the Company carrying vo#ng rights may appoint a single person as Proxy and such person 
shall not act as a proxy for any other person or shareholder.

2. The Register of Members and Share Transfer Registers of the Company will remain close from 12th September, 2015 to 

18th September, 2015, both days inclusive.

3. Equity shares of the Company are listed with Calcu#a and Guwaha! Stock Exchanges.  Lis!ng fees for the current year 

have been paid.

4. The investors are requested to enroll their e mail ids with the company and can write to the Company Secretary at sde@

ascarbon.com. 

5. Vo#ng through Electronic Means
 I. In compliance with provisions of Sec!on 108 of the Companies Act, 2013, Rule 20 of the Companies (Management 

and Administra!on) Rules, 2014 as subs!tuted by the Companies (Management and Administra!on) Amendment 

Rules, 2015 and Clause 35B of the Lis!ng Agreement, the Company is pleased to provide Members, facility to 

exercise their right to vote on resolu!ons proposed to be considered at the 52nd  Annual General Mee!ng (AGM) 

by electronic means and the business may be transacted through e-Vo!ng Services. The facility of cas!ng the votes 

by the Members using an electronic vo!ng system from a place other than venue of the AGM (“remote e-vo!ng”) 

will be provided by Na!onal Securi!es Depository Limited (NSDL).

 II. The facility for vo!ng through Ballot Paper shall be made available at the AGM and the Members a#ending the 

Mee!ng who have not cast their vote by remote e-vo!ng shall be able to exercise their right at the Mee!ng 

through Ballot Paper.

 III. The Members who have cast their vote by remote e-vo!ng prior to the AGM may also a#end the AGM but shall not 

be en!tled to cast their vote again.

 IV. The remote e-vo!ng period commences on 15th September 2015 (at 9.00 A. M.) and ends on 17th September 

2015 (at 5.00 P. M.). During this period Members of the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in 

dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date i.e. 11th September 2015, may cast their vote by remote e-vo!ng. The 

remote e-vo!ng module shall be disabled by NSDL for vo!ng therea%er. Once the vote on a resolu!on is cast by the 

Member, the Member shall not be allowed to change it subsequently.

 V. The process and manner for remote e-vo!ng are as under:

  A. In case a Member receives an email from NSDL [for Members whose email Ids are registered with the 

Company/Depository Par!cipants(s)]: 

   (i) Open email and open PDF file viz; “Assam Carbon remote e-Vo!ng.pdf” with your Client ID or Folio 

No. as password. The said PDF file contains your user ID and password/PIN for remote e-vo!ng. Please 

note that the password is an ini!al password. 

   (ii) Launch internet browser by typing the following URL:h#ps://www.evo!ng.nsdl.com

   (iii) Click on Shareholder – Login

   (iv) Put user ID and password as ini!al password/PIN noted in step (i) above. Click Login.
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   (v) Password change menu appears. Change the password/PIN with new password of your choice with 

minimum 8 digits/characters or combina!on thereof. Note new password. It is strongly recommended 

not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password 

confiden!al.

   (vi) Home page of remote e-vo!ng opens. Click on remote e-vo!ng: Ac!ve Vo!ng Cycles.

   (vii) Select “EVEN” of Assam Carbon Products Ltd. 

   (viii) Now you are ready for remote e-vo!ng as Cast Vote page opens.

   (ix) Cast your vote by selec!ng appropriate op!on and click on “Submit” and also “Confirm” when 

prompted.

   (x) Upon confirma!on, the message “Vote cast successfully” will be displayed.

   (xi) Once you have voted on the resolu!on, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

   (xii) Ins!tu!onal shareholders (i.e. other than individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) are required to send scanned 

copy (PDF/JPG Format) of the relevant Board Resolu!on/ Authority le#er etc. together with a#ested 

specimen signature of the duly authorized signatory(ies) who are authorized to vote, to the Scru!nizer 

through e-mail to anuj_mour@yahoo.com with a copy marked to evo!ng@nsdl.co.in

  B. In case a Member receives physical copy of the No!ce of AGM [for Members whose email IDs are not 

registered with the Company/Depository Par!cipants(s) or reques!ng physical copy] :

   (a) Please follow all steps from Sl.No.(ii) to Sl.No.(xii) above, to cast vote.

   (b) In case of any queries, you may refer the Frequently Asked Ques!ons (FAQs) for Shareholders and 

remote e-vo!ng user manual for Shareholders available at the download sec!on of www.evo!ng.nsdl.

com or call on toll free no.: 1800-222-990

   (c) If you are already registered with NSDL for remote e-vo!ng then you can use your exis!ng user ID and 

password for cas!ng your vote.

   (d) You can also update your mobile number and e-mail id in the user profile details of the folio which may 

be used for sending future communica!on(s).

   (e) The vo!ng rights of Members shall be in propor!on to their shares of the paid up Equity Share Capital 

of the Company as on the cut-off date i.e. 11th September, 2015.

   (f) Any person, who acquires shares of the Company and becomes Member of the Company a%er dispatch 

of the No!ce of AGM and holding shares as on the cut-off date i.e. 11th September, 2015, may obtain 

the login ID and password by sending a request at evo!ng@nsdl.co.in or rta@cbmsl.com men!oning 

his/her Folio Number/DPID and Client ID. However, if you are already registered with NSDL for remote 

e-vo!ng then you can use your exis!ng user ID and password for cas!ng your vote. If you forgot your 

password, you can reset your password by using “Forgot User Details/Password” op!on available on 

www.evo!ng.nsdl.com.

   (g) A person, whose name is recorded in the Register of Members or in the Register of Beneficial Owners 

maintained by the depositories as on the cut-off date only shall be en!tled to avail the facility of 

remote e-vo!ng as well as vo!ng at the AGM through Ballot Paper.

   (h) Mr. Anuj Mour, Prac!sing Chartered Accountant, Guwaha! has been appointed as the Scru!nizer to 

scru!nize the vo!ng and remote e-vo!ng process in a fair and transparent manner.

   (i) The Chairman shall, at the AGM, at the end of discussion on the resolu!ons on which vo!ng is to be 

held, allow vo!ng with the assistance of scru!nizer, by use of Ballot Paper for all those Members who 

are present at the AGM but have not cast their votes by availing the remote e-vo!ng facility.

   (j) The Scru!nizer shall a%er the conclusion of vo!ng at the AGM, will first count the votes cast at the 

Mee!ng and therea%er unblock the votes cast through remote e-vo!ng in the presence of at least 

two witnesses not in the employment of the Company and shall make, not later than three days of the 

conclusion of the AGM, a consolidated Scru!nizer’s Report of the total votes cast in favour or against, 

if any, to the Chairman or a person authorized by him in wri!ng, who shall countersign the same and 

declare the result of the vo!ng forthwith.

   (k) The results declared along with the Report of the Scru!nizer which shall be placed on the website of 

the Company www.asamcarbon.in and on the website of NSDL immediately a%er the declara!on of 

result by the Chairman or a person authorized by him in wri!ng. The results shall also be immediately 

forwarded to the BSE Limited and the Na!onal Stock Exchange of India Limited. 
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Explanatory Statement pursuant to Sec�on 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013

Item 5
The Remunera!on Commi"ee and the Board of Directors of the Company at its mee!ng held on 29th July 2010 approved the 

payment of remunera!on to Mr R Himatsingka, Director by way of quarterly payment of an amount not exceeding Rs 3,75,000/- 

(Rupees three lacs seventy five thousand) per quarter, w.e.f. quarter ending 30th September, 2010, for two financial years and 

Rs. 4,25,000/-( Four lakhs twenty five thousand) per quarter ending 30th September, 2012 for next three financial years subject 

to his re-appointment as Director on re!rement by rota!on, in view of !me being devoted and contribu!on expected to be 

made by him towards company’s growth and prospects par!cularly in view of his long standing experience in the business the 

Company deals in.

Further, the Board proposed to pay aforesaid remunera!on as Minimum Remunera!on pursuant to provisions of sec!on 197 

of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Shareholders at its mee!ng held on 29th September 2010 had also approved the aforesaid payment. However on an 

applica!on made to the Central Government, the Central Government allowed payment to Mr Himatsingka to the tune of 1% 

of the net profits as computed under sec!on 197 of the Companies Act 2013. 

On compu!ng the net profits under sec!on 197 of the Companies Act, 2013, the remunera!on for the year ended 31st March, 

2015 payable to Mr R Himatsingka exceeded by Rs 17,00,000  the limits prescribed in sec!ons prescribed in 197 read with 

Schedule V and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013. 

The Remunera!on Commi"ee of the Board of Directors held 13th June 2015 and also the Board of Directors at their mee!ng 

held on 13th June 2015, decided to waive recovery of the excess remunera!on payable to Mr R Himatsingka subject to approval 

of the Shareholders and the Central Government as required by provisions of sec!on 309 (5B) of the Companies Act, 2013.  

Informa!on required under the provisions of Schedule V is furnished below:

The Company’s main business is manufacture and sale of Electrical and Engineered Carbon Materials and components, at its 

two factories at Guwaha!, Assam and Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh for over three decades.  The Promoters of the Company, 

M/s Morgan Advanced Materials Co, UK holds 28.77% of the Company’s Equity Share capital. Its products are exported to 

Luxemburg, Hungry and Far Eastern countries.  

Working results of the Company for the last three years are given below:   

Year ended 31.3.13
(` 000s)

Year ended 31.3.14
(` 000s)

Year ended 31.3.15
(` 000s)

(i)    Paid up Capital 27,556   27,556  27,556

(ii)   Sales & Other Income        423,053 447,804 398,338

(iii)  Profit before tax                     79,626)    1518 (18,071)

(iv)  Dividend (%)                – – –

The Board noted that Mr Himatsingka (63) is B E (Hons) in Mechanical Engineering, from Birla Ins!tute of Technology & Science, 

Pilani.  Subsequent to comple!on of his Engineering, a$er working in India for two (2) years, Mr Himatsingka worked and 

was trained as ‘Carbon Technologist’ in Company’s foreign collaborator’s factory in Swansea, U K for over two (2) years. Mr 

Himatsingka was instrumental in the se'ng up of the Company’s new factory in Birkuchi, Guwaha!, Assam.

Mr Himatsingka was appointed as a Director of the Company w.e.f. 29.12.1975 and upon his return from the U K he was 

appointed as the Deputy Managing Director of the Company from July 1977 to July 1982 and Jt Managing Director from July, 

1982 to June, 1983.  Presently, he is Chairman of the Company.  He is also Chairman and Managing Director of India Carbon 

Limited.  He had also been, inter alia, director of Morganite Electrical Carbon Ltd, Swansea, U K, from 1992 to 2003.

Mr Himatsingka is a Chartered Member of the “Ins!tu!on of Engineers”, and President of the Indian Associa!on of Produc!vity, 

Quality and Reliability. He has been President of Confedera!on of EOUs and was and is ac!vely associated with Chambers of 

Commerce, Philanthropic/NGO bodies, Public Trusts, Rotary Movement and other social & cultural clubs.

The Board recommends that the resolu!on be adopted and be passed as Special Resolu!on by the members of the Company.

Except Mr R Himatsingka none of the Directors, key managerial personnel of your Company and their rela!ves may be deemed 

to be concerned or interested in this resolu!on.

The above may also be treated as a statement as required under Sec!on 190 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Item 6
The Board of Directors of the Company at its Mee!ng held on 9th October 2014, appointed Mr K K Bha"acharya as Managing 

Director of the Company from 9th October 2014 to 8th October 2016, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the 

ensuing Annual General Mee!ng and the Central Government, if required. Mr K K Bha"acharya’s appointment is for two years 

and he is a Mechanical Engineer from Jadavpur University.  He has vast experience in Projects, Technical opera!ons, etc. and 

experience will contribute significantly to the Company’s business and future growth. 



Annual Report 2014-2015Assam Carbon Products Limited 6

The terms of remunera!on of Mr Bha"acharya were as follows:

1. By way of remunera!on for his service, hereunder, Mr K K Bha"acharya shall be en!tled to receive on and from the 9th 

October, Two thousand and fourteen during the currency of this Agreement and otherwise subject to the Ar!cles of 

Associa!on of the Company and subject to provisions of Companies Act 2013-

 Basic Salary -   Rs.66,500 per month, ( Rupees Sixty Six thousand five hundred only) with an annual increment of Rs.7,000/- 

(Rupees Seven Thousand ) only. However, the annual increment is not guaranteed and is based on the performance.

 In addi!on to the salary as stated herein above, Mr K K Bha"acharya shall be en!tled to the following benefits and 

perquisites:

 a. Free furnished accommoda!on or house rent allowance in lieu thereof as per the rules of the Company up to a 

maximum of Rs 33,250 or part thereof.  

 b. Expenditure/Allowance towards gas, electricity, water and furnishings subject to ceiling of 10% of the salary to be 

evaluated as per Income Tax rules up to a maximum of Rs 6,650 per month or part thereof.

 c.  Reimbursement  of  medical expenses  for  self  and  family  subject  to  a ceiling of one month’s salary in a year or 

three months’ salary over a period of three years.  Mediclaim Policy for self and family in accordance with the rules 

of the Company up to a maximum of Rs 66,500 per annum or part thereof.

 d.     Leave  travel concession  for  self  and family once in a year in accordance with the rules of the Company up to a 

maximum of Rs 166,250 per annum or part thereof.          

 e       Leave with full pay and allowance as per Rules of the Company but not exceeding one month’s leave for every 

eleven months of service.  

 f.  Mr Bha"acharjee shall be en!tled for running and maintain his car and will be provided a sum of Rs. 240,000 as 

running expenses of the car per annum or part thereof as reimbursement.

 g Mr Bha"acharjee shall be en!tled for Bonus Rs 166,250 per annum or part thereof.

 h.  The Company shall provide telephone, telefax, mobile phone and other communica!on facili!es at Mr K K 

Bha"acharya residence as may be required.

 i.    Subject to the overall ceiling of remunera!on, the Managing Director may be given any other allowance, benefits 

and perquisites as the Board of Directors may from !me to !me decide.

6. Mr K K Bha"acharya shall be reimbursed any entertainment expenses or travelling expenses paid by him and incurred for 

or about the Company’s business.

 The Board recommends that the resolu!on be adopted and be passed as a Special Resolu!on by the members of the 

Company.

 Except Mr K K Bha"acharya, none of the Directors, key managerial personnel of your Company and their rela!ves may be 

deemed to be concerned or interested in this resolu!on.

 The above may also be treated as a statement as required under Sec!on 190 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Item 7

Mr S K Lhila was appointed by the Board of Directors with effect from 31st March 2015 as an Addi!onal Director in the 

Independent Category as per sec!on 149 of the Companies Act 2015. The appointment is subject to the approval of the 

Shareholders. 

Mr Lhila is a professional Chartered Accountant and hold vast experience in the field of Finance, Tax and Audit. 

The Directors are of the opinion that Mr S K Lhila associa!on as a member of the Board will be beneficial to the Company and 

recommend that the Resolu!on be adopted.

Item 8

Mrs Rupanjana De was appointed by the Board of Directors with effect from 31st March 2015 as an Addi!onal Director in 

the Independent Category as per sec!on 149 of the Companies Act 2015. The appointment is subject to the approval of the 

Shareholders. 
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Mrs Rupanjana De  is qualified Company Secretary, LLB, LLM from University of Hamburg, M A (Economics) from University 

Cezanne Aix-Marseille III, France and a European master in Law and Economics from Eramus University Ro"erdam , The 

Netherlands. She has got vast experience in Company Law and Management, Corporate Governance, CSR, Corporate 

Sustainability, Legal Compliance, etc. 

The Directors are of the opinion that Mrs Rupanjana De associa#on as a member of the Board will be beneficial to the Company 

and recommend that the Resolu#on be adopted.

 By Order of the Board

Place : 13th June 2015 Saugata De
Date :  Kolkata Company Secretary
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
To the Members,

Your Directors presents the 52nd Annual Report of the Company along with the Audited Accounts for the year ended 

31st March, 2015.

1. FINANCIAL SUMMARY  OF THE COMPANY:  (In Rs. 000’s)

FINANCIAL RESULTS  2014-2015 2013-2014
Sales & Other Income 398,338 447,804

Profit/(Loss) before tax                                                               (17,071) 1518

Less: Tax expenses of earlier Year                                                 1,000 Nil

Profit/(Loss) a"er Tax                                                      (18,071) 1518

Add: Unappropriated Profit of last year                                   (15,748) (17,266)

Balance carried forward                                                           (33,819) (15,748)

2.  OPERATIONS

 During the year under review, Gross Sales of the Company was Rs. 3716.54 Lacs as compared to Rs. 3830.56 Lacs in the 

previous year. For the year, your company has made a Gross Loss of Rs.170.71 Lacs as against Gross Profit of Rs. 15.18 

Lacs in the previous year. The Export Sales during the year has been very minimal as compared to the previous year. 

 During the year, your company incurred a forex gain of Rs. 57.97 lakhs as compared to forex loss of Rs. 195.47 lakhs for 

the previous year.

 During the year your company has worked ac#vely towards developments in the process, controls, as well as new products 

and manufacturing processes which have opened the door for the company to tap addi#onal business opportuni#es 

which will help your company to improve its top and bo$om line. Major Cost Cu%ng Measures, Savings in Power and Fuel 

as well as improving efficiency and produc#vity have been implemented. 

 Due to fierce compe##on, not only was your company unable for the last few years to pass on the cost increases, but in 

fact was forced to reduce prices.  

 In view of the unsustainable losses, decision has been taken not to indulge any longer in this price war and concentrate 

on bringing about savings by producing Quality, Cost Cu%ng, improving produc#vity and efficiency. 

3.  FUTURE OUTLOOK 

 Business environment is improving in the segments in which your company is in business and it is showing an upward 

trend in the form of improved order. Bringing back lost customers is one of the focus items for the coming year. New 

business opportuni#es will be tapped and new customers will be iden#fied to start business with them by strengthening 

the Marke#ng Department. Your company had a few years back exited from the automo#ve and frac#onal horse power 

motors business. To u#lize exis#ng capacity and manpower your company is re entering this field. 

 In addi#on to the cost cu%ng drive, further improvement in gross margin by reduc#on in raw material consump#on is 

now focus of a$en#on of the management team. The company’s efforts are to improve sales volumes and price levels 

by focusing on alternate growth areas and product-lines which were untapped so far. As men#oned earlier, a price 

improvement ini#a#ve is already underway, and the benefit of this are expected to be seen during the present year of 

2015-16.

4.  DIVIDEND

 Your Directors do not recommend payment of any dividend in view of the inadequate profit made during the year under 

review.

5.  PUBLIC DEPOSIT

 The Company has not accepted / renewed any public deposit under sec#on 73 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with 

Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014, during the year 2014-2015. 

6.  STATUTORY AUDITORS’ AND THEIR REPORT

 M/s B S R & Co, the Statutory Auditors of the Company, hold office un#l the conclusion of the ensuing Annual General 

Mee#ng.  
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7.  DIRECTORS

 Mr. Prabhat C Goenka resigned as Director from the Board of the Company w.e.f. 7th January 2015.

 Mrs. Anita Himatsingka resigned as Director from the Board of the Company w.e.f. 27th December 2014. The Board 

places on record its apprecia!on to the contribu!on made by her during the tenure of her Directorship.

 Mr K K Bha"acharya was appointed as a Managing Director effec!ve 9th October 2014. He is a Mechanical Engineer from 

Jadavpur University.  He has vast experience in Projects, Technical opera!ons. 

 Mr S K Lhila was appointed by the Board of Directors with effect from 31st March 2015 as an Addi!onal Director in the 

Independent Category as per sec!on 149 of the Companies Act 2015. Mr Lhila is a professional Chartered Accountant and 

hold vast experience in the field of Finance, Tax and Audit. 

 Mrs Rupanjana De was appointed by the Board of Directors with effect from 31st March 2015 as an Addi!onal Director 

in the Independent Category as per sec!on 149 of the Companies Act 2015. Mrs Rupanjana De  is qualified Company 

Secretary, LLB, LLM from University of Hamburg, M A (Economics) from University Cezanne Aix-Marseille III, France 

and a European master in Law and Economics from Eramus University Ro"erdam , The Netherlands. She has got vast 

experience in Company Law and Management, Corporate Governance, CSR, Corporate Sustainability, Legal Compliance, 

etc.

 All independent directors have given declara!ons that they meet the criteria of independence as laid down under sec!on 

149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013.

 Mr A Saikia was nominated by AIDC, Govt of Assam, as a Nominee Director in the Board in place of Mr Rajesh Prasad.

 Mr Neil P Hoyland and Mr Ralph Gomarsall re!re by rota!on at the ensuing Annual General Mee!ng and are eligible for 

re-appointment. 

8.  INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM:

 The Company has an Internal Control System, commensurate with the size, scale and complexity of its opera!ons. The 

Internal Audit func!on is done by independent Chartered Accountant, whose reports are being placed in the Board for 

their review. 

 The Company has cons!tuted an Audit Commi"ee in pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act 2013 which 

consists of majority of Independent Director. 

9.  PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS:

 Your company has not given any loans or guarantees covered under the provisions of sec!on 186 of the Companies Act, 

2013, nor have made any investment under the Companies Act, 2013.

10.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

 All related party transac!ons that were entered into during the financial year were on arm’s length basis and were in 

the ordinary course of the business. Details are annexed in Form No AOC - 2 as Annexure D of this report. There are no 

materially significant related party transac!ons made by the company with Promoters, Key Managerial Personnel or 

other designated persons which may have poten!al conflict with interest of the company at large.

11.  SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES:

 The Company does not have any subsidiary. 

12.  VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY:

 The Company has a vigil mechanism named Vigil Mechanism and Whistle Blower Policy to deal with instance of fraud and 

mismanagement, if any, as per the provisions of the Companies Act 2013.

13.  SECRETARIAL AUDIT:

 Pursuant to provisions of sec!on 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and The Companies (Appointment and Remunera!on 

of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 the company has appointed R K Jain & Co , a firm of company Secretaries in prac!ce 

to undertake the Secretarial Audit of the Company. The Secretarial Audit report is annexed herewith as “Annexure B”

14.  EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN:

 The details forming part of the extract of the Annual Return in form MGT-9 is annexed herewith as “Annexure C”.

15.  INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

 Your company is pleased to inform that during the year under review Industrial Rela!ons at the Patancheru factory and 

Guwaha! factory remained normal and peaceful. 
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16.  CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

 Informa!on on Conserva!on of Energy, Technological Absorp!on and Foreign Exchange earnings and outgo is appended 

as Annexure “A” of this report. 

17.  EMPLOYEES

 Vide circular no. GSR 289(E) dated 31st March 2011 issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, 

the statement of par!culars of employees as required under sec!on 197 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the 

Companies (Appointment and Remunera!on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the limit has been enhanced to Rs. 

Sixty lakhs per annum or Rs. Five lakhs per month. Since no employee falls in that category no disclosure has been given 

in this report. 

18.  DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

 Pursuant to Sec!on 134 (5) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Directors confirm that:

 i) In the prepara!on of the annual accounts, the applicable accoun!ng standards have been followed.

 ii) The directors have selected such accoun!ng policies and applied them consistently and made judgments and 

es!mates that were reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 

at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Company for the year under review.

 iii) The directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accoun!ng records in 

accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preven!ng and 

detec!ng fraud and other irregulari!es.

 iv) The directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis.

 v) The directors had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the company and that such internal 

financial controls are adequate and were opera!ng effec!vely.

 vi) The directors had devised proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that 

such system were adequate and opera!ng effec!vely.

19. A NOTE OF APPRECIATION 

 The Directors express their gra!tude for the assistance and co-opera!on that the Company has received from the Central 

Government, State Governments of Assam and Andhra Pradesh, Other State Governments, Statutory Authori!es, 

Regulatory Bodies, Customers, Bankers, Suppliers, Shareholders.

For and on behalf of the Board

Date : 13th June 2015 R. Himatsingka                                                                                                                                                                          
Place : Kolkata Chairman
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ANNEXURE TO DIRECTORS’ REPORT
‘ANNEXURE A’

A.  Conserva�on of Energy
 (a) Energy Conserva!on Measures :

 Effec!ve use of the equipments and proper use of idle !me.

B.   Technology Absorp�on
 Research and Development (R&D)

 1. Specific areas in which R& D carried out by the company

  R & D drive was ini!ated few years back for indigeniza!on of major raw material and grades of materials which 

were imported.  The same is yielding results, but as it is a very !me consuming process involving tests and field 

trials, this will be an ongoing process.  

 2. Benefits derived as a result of the above R & D

  By these measures, the company expected to save revenue upto Rs. 58 lacs. 

 3. Future plan of ac!on

  • Con!nuous Indigeniza!on of imported raw materials;

  • Con!nuous Development of New Impermeable Grade;

  • Development of New Material for New Business Areas, such as Auto Sector, Frac!onal Hrs for Power Motors, 

etc;

  • Improve exis!ng Grades to meet more demanding Opera!onal condi!ons. 

 4. Expenditure on R & D                                                              Rs. in lacs

  a. Capital -

b. Recurring  14.53

  c. Total   14.53

  d. Total R & D expenditure as a percentage of total turnover 0.37

 Technology absorp�on, adapta�on and innova�on
 The Company has fully absorbed the technology on exis!ng product line.

C.  Foreign exchange earnings and outgo:
 a. Ac!vi!es rela!ng to exports; ini!a!ves taken to increase exports; development of new export markets for products 

and services; and export plans: - 

  During the year, exports were made to Europe and the Far East, for Mechanical Carbon Products as well as Electrical 

Carbon products. 

 b. Total foreign exchange used and earned

     Rs. in Lacs

  Total Foreign Exchange used   279.27

  Total Foreign Exchange earned  68.93
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Annexure B 

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
For The Financial Year Ended On 31st March, 2015

(Pursuant to sec!on 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of

the Companies (Appointment and Remunera!on Personnel) Rules, 2014)

To,

The Members,

Assam Carbon Products Ltd,

Birkuchi, 

Guwaha!- 781026,

Assam.

I/We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good 

corporate prac!ces by ASSAM CARBON PRODUCTS LTD (hereina"er called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in 

a manner that provided me/us a reasonable basis for evalua!ng the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing 

my opinion thereon. 

Based on my/our verifica!on of the ASSAM CARBON PRODUCTS LTD’s  books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed 

and other records maintained by the company and also the informa!on provided by the Company, its officers, agents and 

authorized representa!ves during the conduct of secretarial audit, I/We hereby report that in my/our opinion, the company 

has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on 31st March, 2015, complied with the statutory provisions 

listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in 

the manner and subject to the repor!ng made hereina"er:

I/we have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by ASSAM CARBON 
PRODUCTS LTD (“the Company”) for the financial year ended on 31st March, 2015, according to the provisions of:

(i)  The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;

(ii)  The Securi!es Contracts (Regula!on) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder;

(iii)  The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regula!ons and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

(iv)  Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regula!ons made thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct 

Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings;

(v)  The following Regula!ons and Guidelines prescribed under the Securi!es and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI 

Act’) :-

 (a)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Substan!al Acquisi!on of Shares and Takeovers) Regula!ons, 2011;

 (b)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Prohibi!on of Insider Trading) Regula!ons, 1992;

 (c)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regula!ons, 2009;

 (d)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Op!on Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) 

Guidelines, 1999/ The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regula!ons, 2014;

 (e)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Lis!ng of Debt Securi!es) Regula!ons, 2008;

 (f)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regula!ons, 1993 

regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

 (g)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Delis!ng of Equity Shares) Regula!ons, 2009; and

 (h)  The Securi!es and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securi!es) Regula!ons, 1998;

(vi)  Other laws/acts/rules as may be applicable specifically to the company:

 (a)  Payment of Bonus Act, 1965;

 (b)  Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972;

 (c)  Payment of Wages Act, 1936;
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 (d)  Trade Unions Act, 1926;

 (e)  Workmen’s Compensa!on Act, 1923;

 (f)  Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952;

 (g)  Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948;

 (h)  Minimum Wages Act, 1948 and its Rules; 

 (i)  The Factories Act, 1948 & its Rules;

 (j)  Pollu!on Control Board Clearance (Environment Protec!on) Act, 1986 and its Rules; 

 (k)  Central Excise Act , 1944 and its Rules; 

 (l)  Income Tax Act, 1961 and its Rules;

 (m)  Central Sales Tax Act, 1956 and its Rules;

 (n)  VAT Act and its Rules; 

 (o)  Profession Tax and its Rules;  

 (p)  Shops and Establishments Act and its Rules; 

 (q)  Industrial Disputes Act 1947 and its Rules;

 (r)  Service Tax Act and its Rules;

 (s)  Contract Labour (Regula!on and Aboli!on) Act, 1970.

I/we have also examined the required licenses specific to the company and found them duly up to date/applied for renewal.

I/we have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:

(i)  Secretarial Standards issued by The Ins!tute of Company Secretaries of India.

(ii)  The Lis!ng Agreement entered into by the Company with The Calcu#a Stock Exchange Limited;

During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regula!ons, Guidelines, 

Standards, etc. men!oned above.

I/we further report that: 

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly cons!tuted with proper balance of Execu!ve Directors, Non-Execu!ve Directors, 

Independent Directors and a Women Director. The changes in the composi!on of the Board of Directors that took place during 

the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act. 

Adequate no!ce is given to all directors to schedule the Board Mee!ngs, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at 

least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further informa!on and clarifica!ons on the agenda 

items before the mee!ng and for meaningful par!cipa!on at the mee!ng.

Majority decision is carried through while the dissen!ng members’ views are captured and recorded as part of the minutes.

I/we further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate with the size and opera!ons 

of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regula!ons and guidelines.

 R K Jalan
Place : Kolkata  Prac�sing Company Secretary
Date  : 13th June, 2015  CP No: 5705
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Annexure C 

Form No. MGT-9
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

as on the financial year ended on

31st March, 2015

[Pursuant to sec"on 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the

Companies (Management and Administra"on) Rules, 2014]

I. REGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS :

1. CIN L23101AS1963PLC001206

2. Registra"on Date 17th April 1963

3. Name of the Company Assam Carbon Products Ltd.
4. Category/Sub-category of the Company Company Limited by Shares

5. Address of the Registered office  & contact details Birkuchi, Guwaha", Assam, India - 781026
6. Whether listed company Yes
7. Name, Address & contact details of the Registrar & 

Transfer Agent, if any.
CB Management Services (P) Ltd.
P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata- 700 019

II. PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY (All the business ac!vi!es contribu!ng 10 % or more of the total 
turnover of the company shall be stated)

Sl. 
No.

Name and Descrip!on of main 
products / services

NIC Code of the 
Product/service

%  to total turnover
of the company

1 CARBON BLOCKS NA 15% 
2 CARBON BRUSH NA 43% 
3 MECHANICAL AND SPECIAL CARBON 

COMPONENTS
NA  37%

III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

Sl. 
No.

Name and Address of the 
Company

CIN/ Holding/Subsidiary/
Associate

% of shares held Applicable 
sec!on

1 Morgan Advanced 
Materials Plc, Quadrant, 
55-57, Windsor, Berkshire 
SL4, 1LP, UK

NA  Holding 28.77%

IV. SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity) Category-wise Share Holding

Category of 
Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning 
of the year [As on 31st March, 2014]

No. of Shares held at the end 
of the year [As on 31st March, 2015]

% Change
during

the year   

 Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

A. Promoter s

(1) Indian

a) Individual/ HUF 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

b) Central Govt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

c) State Govt(s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

d) Bodies Corp. 0 792927 792927 28.78 0 792927 792927 28.78 NIL

e) Banks / FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

f) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Category of 
Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning 
of the year [As on 31st March, 2014]

No. of Shares held at the end 
of the year [As on 31st March, 2015]

% Change
during

the year   

 Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

Total shareholding 

of Promoter (A)

792927 792927 28.78 792927 792927 28.78 NIL

B. Public 
Shareholding

1. Ins!tu!ons

a) Mutual Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

b) Banks / FI 1950 100050 102000 3.70 1950 100050 102000 3.70 NIL

c) Central Govt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

d) State Govt(s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

e) Venture Capital 

Funds

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

f) Insurance 

Companies

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

g) FIIs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

 h) Foreign Venture 

Capital Funds

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

i) Others (specify) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

Sub-total (B)(1):- 1950 100050 102000 3.70 1950 100050 102000 3.70 NIL

2. Non-Ins!tu!ons

a) Bodies Corp. 167642 12100 179742 6.52 112808 12100 124908 4.53 30.50%

i) Indian

ii) Overseas

b) Individuals

i) Individual 

shareholders 

holding nominal 

share capital upto 

Rs. 1 lakh

233257 199928 433185 15.72 234516 198403 432919 15.71 0.06%

ii) Individual 

shareholders 

holding nominal 

share capital in 

excess of Rs 1 lakh

589898 657073 1246971 45.25 644898 657073 1301971 47.25 4.41%

c) Others (specify) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

Non Resident 

Indians

275 350 625 0.02 375 350 725 0.03% 16%

Overseas 

Corporate Bodies

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

Foreign Na!onals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

Clearing Members 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

Trusts 150 0 150 0.01 150 0 150 0.01 NIL
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Category of 
Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning 
of the year [As on 31st March, 2014]

No. of Shares held at the end 
of the year [As on 31st March, 2015]

% Change
during

the year   

 Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

Foreign Bodies 

- D R

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

Sub-total (B)(2):- 991222 869451 1860673 67.52 992747 867926 1860673 67.52 NIL

Total Public 
Shareholding 
(B)=(B)(1)+ (B)(2)

993172 969501 1962673 71.22 994697 967976 1962673 71.22 NIL

C. Shares held 
by Custodian for 
GDRs & ADRs

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NIL

Grand Total 
(A+B+C)

993172 1762428 2755600 100 994697 967976 2755600 100 NIL

B)  Shareholding of Promoter-

Sl.

No.

Shareholder’s 
Name

Shareholding at the beginning of the year Shareholding at the end of the year % change 
in share- 
holding 

during the 
year

 No. of 
Shares

% of total 
Shares of the 

company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 

encumbered 
to total shares

No. of 
Shares

% of total 
Shares of the 

company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 

encumbered 
to total shares

1. Morgan Advanced 

Materials Plc

792927 28.77 NIL 792927 28.77 NIL NIL

C)  Change in Promoters’ Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)

Sl.
No.

Shareholder’s Name Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

Cumula!ve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

At the beginning of the year

Date wise Increase / Decrease in 

Promoters Shareholding during 

the year specifying the reasons 

for increase / decrease (e.g. 

allotment /transfer / bonus/ 

sweat equity etc.):

At the end of the year

No Change
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D)  Shareholding Pa�ern of top ten Shareholders: 
 (Other than Directors, Promoters and Holders of GDRs and ADRs):

Sl.
No.

For Each of the Top 10
Shareholders

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

Shareholding at the 
end of the year

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

1 Prabhat C Goenka 658453 23.90 658453 23.90

2 Anita Himatsingka 275025 9.98 275025 9.98

3 Shauryavir Himatsingka 124150 4.51 124150 4.51

4 Assam Industrial Development 

Corpora!on Ltd.

100000 3.63 100000 3.63

5 Maalika Himatsingka 90000 3.27 90000 3.27

6 Mahendra Girdharilal 65249 2.37 65249 2.37

7 Fund Flow Investment And 

Trading Co Ltd

60000 2.18 60000 2.18

8 Pripro Financial & Share Services 

Ltd.

55000 2.00 0 0

9 Kallol Investments Ltd. 46598 1.69 46598 1.69

10 P P Zibi Jose 0 0 55000 2.00

E)  Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel:

Sl.
No.

Shareholding of each Directors 
and each Key Managerial 
Personnel

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

Cumula!ve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

1 Mr Rakesh Himatsingka, Director

At the beginning of the year 400 0.14

Date wise Increase / Decrease in 

Promoters Shareholding during 

the year specifying the reasons for 

increase /decrease (e.g. allotment 

/ transfer / bonus/ sweat equity 

etc.):

0 0

At the end of the year 400 0.14
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Sl.
No.

Shareholding of each Directors 
and each Key Managerial 
Personnel

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

Cumula�ve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

No. of shares % of total
shares of the

company

2 Mr K K Bha!acharya, MD

At the beginning of the year 0 0

Date wise Increase / Decrease in 

Promoters Shareholding during 

the year specifying the reasons for 

increase /decrease (e.g. allotment 

/ transfer / bonus/ sweat equity 

etc.):

At the end of the year 0 0

3 Mr Pijush Bysack - CFO

At the beginning of the year 0 0

Date wise Increase / Decrease in 

Promoters Shareholding during 

the year specifying the reasons 

for increase /decrease (e.g. 

allotment / transfer / bonus/ 

sweat equity etc.):

At the end of the year 0 0

4 Mr Saugata De – Company 

Secretary

At the beginning of the year 0 0

Date wise Increase / Decrease in 

Promoters Shareholding during 

the year specifying the reasons 

for increase /decrease (e.g. 

allotment / transfer / bonus/ 

sweat equity etc.):

At the end of the year 0 0

V)  INDEBTEDNESS -Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment.
(In Rs.)

Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured Loans Deposits Total 
Indebtedness

Indebtedness at the 

beginning of the financial 

year

i) Principal Amount  9,80,00,000 Nil Nil 9,80,00,000

ii) Interest due but not paid  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

iii) Interest accrued but not 

     due

 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

Total (i+ii+iii)  9,80,00,000 Nil Nil 9,80,00,000
Change in Indebtedness 

during the financial year

 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

* Addi#on  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

* Reduc#on  9,80,00,000  Nil  Nil  9,80,00,000

Net Change  9,80,00,000  Nil  Nil  9,80,00,000
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Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured Loans Deposits Total 
Indebtedness

Indebtedness at the end of 

the financial year

i) Principal Amount  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

ii) Interest due but not paid  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

iii) Interest accrued but not 

     due

 Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

Total (i+ii+iii)  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil

VI.  REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL-
 A.  Remunera!on to Managing Director, Whole-!me Directors and/or Manager: (In Rs.)

SN. Par"culars of Remunera"on Name of MD/WTD/ Manager Total Amount

1 Gross salary Mr K K Bha#acharya

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in 

sec"on 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961

8,03,035 8,03,035

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax 

Act, 1961

 NIL  NIL

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under sec"on 17(3) 
Income- tax Act, 1961

 NIL  NIL

2 Stock Op!on  NIL  NIL

3 Sweat Equity  NIL  NIL

4 Commission  NIL  NIL

-  as % of profit

-  others, specify…

5 Others, please specify  NIL  NIL

Total (A)  8,03,035  8,03,035

Ceiling as per the Act

 B.  Remunera!on to other directors : (In Rs.) 

Sl.
No.

Name of Directors Par!culars of Remunera!on Total Amount

 Independent Director Si"ng Fees Commission Others

1 Mr S K Lhila  5000  NIL  NIL  5000
Mrs Rupanjana De  5000  NIL  NIL  5000

2 Non Execu"ve Director
Mr R Hitamsingka  50,000  NIL  17,00,000  17,50,000
Mrs A Himatsingka  30,000  NIL  NIL  30,000
Mr Prabhat C Goenka  10,000  NIL  NIL  10,000
Mr A Saikia 15,000  NIL  NIL 15,000
Total (1+2)  1,25,000  17,00,000  18,25,000

Total Managerial Remunera"on  18,25,000
Overall Ceiling as per the Act
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 C.  REMUNERATION TO KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL OTHER THAN MD/MANAGER/WTD : (In Rs.)

Sl. 

No.

Par!culars of Remunera!on Key Managerial Personnel

CS CFO Total

1 Gross salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained 

in sec!on 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 

1961

 10,60,000 13,91,000  24,51,000

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) 

Income-tax Act, 1961

 NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under sec!on 

17(3) Income-tax Act, 1961

 NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

2 Stock Op!on  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

3 Sweat Equity  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

4 Commission  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

-  as % of profit  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

others, specify…  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

5 Others, please specify  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

Total  10,60,000 13,91,000  24,51,000

VII.  PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES:

Type Sec!on 

of the 

Companies 

Act

Brief 

Descrip!on

Details of Penalty 

/ Punishment/ 

Compounding fees 

imposed

Authority [RD / 

NCLT/ COURT]

Appeal made, 

if any (give 

Details)

A. Company

Penalty  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

Punishment  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

Compounding  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

B. Directors

Penalty  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

Punishment  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

Compounding  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

C. Other Officers in default

Penalty  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

Punishment  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

Compounding
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Annexure D

FORM NO. AOC -2

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-sec�on (3) of sec�on 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) 

of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014

Form for Disclosure of par!culars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related par!es referred to in 

sub sec!on (1) of sec!on 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arms length transac!on under third proviso thereto.

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transac!ons not at Arm’s length basis.

 There were no contracts or arrangements or transac!on entered into during the year ended March 31st, 2015, which 

was not at Arm Length basis.

2. Details of contracts or arrangements or transac!ons at Arm’s length basis for the year ended 31.03.2015 are as follows:

Name of the Related 

party & Nature of 

Contract

Nature of 

Rela�onship

Dura�on of Contract Salient Terms Amount in Rs.

India Carbon Ltd. 

Sale and Purchase of 

Goods

Mr. Rakesh 

Himatsingka, Non 

Execu!ve Director, 

Chairman of the 

Board, is interested

April, 1st  2014- 

March, 31st  2015

Omnibus approval 

accorded for Sale, 

Purchase or supply of 

any goods or material 

and avail or render any 

service not exceeding 

Rs.5.00 Crore for the 

F.Y 2014-15

Purchase of Goods 

Amoun!ng of 

Rs.3,96,500/-(Net 

of Tax) and Sale of 

Goods amoun!ng 

of Rs.60,887/-(Net 

of Tax)

For and on behalf of the Board

Date: 13th June 2015 R Himatsingka

Place: Kolkata Chairman
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members ofAssam Carbon Products Limited 

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanyingfinancial statements of Assam Carbon Products Limited (‘the Company’) which comprise 

the Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2015, the Statement of Profit and Loss and Cash Flow Statemen"or the year then ended, and 

a summary of significant accoun#ng policies and other explanatory informa#on.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the ma$ers stated in Sec#on 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the 

Act”) with respect to the prepara#on of thesefinancial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial posi#on, 

financial performance and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accoun#ng principles generally accepted in India, 

including the Accoun#ng Standards specified under Sec#on 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 

2014. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accoun#ng records in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preven#ng and detec#ng fraud and other irregulari#es; selec#on and 

applica#on of appropriate accoun#ng policies; making judgements and es#mates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 

implementa#on and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were opera#ng effec#vely for ensuring the 

accuracy and completeness of the accoun#ng records, relevant to the prepara#on and presenta#on of the financial statements 

that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on thesefinancial statements based on our audit.

We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accoun#ng and audi#ng standards andma$ers which are required to 

be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and theRules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Audi#ng specified under Sec#on 143(10) of the Act. Those 

Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal financial control relevant to the Company’s prepara#on of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on whether the Company has in place an adequate internal financial controls system over financial repor#ng and the opera#ng 

effec#veness of such controls. An audit also includes evalua#ng the appropriateness of the accoun#ng policies used and the 

reasonableness of the accoun#ng es#mates made by the Company’s Directors, as well as evalua#ng the overall presenta#on 

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit 

opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

a) We draw a$en#on to Note 24 (ii) to the financial statements wherein it is stated that the Company has not established a 

provision for employee wages and benefits for the lock out period at the Company’s Guwaha# Factory from 7 December 

2010 to 8 March 2012 on the principle of ‘No Work No Pay’. The ma$er is currently pending with the labour commissioner 

and hence the impact, if any, in terms of provision of employee wages and employee benefits and its resultant impact on 

loss for the year ended 31 March 2015, reserves and surplus and current liabili#es, cannot currently be determined. Our 

report in the previous year was also qualified with respect to the above ma$er.

b) The Central Government has approved the payment of remunera#on to the non-execu#ve Director subject to 1 % of the 

net profit of the Company as computed under sec#on 198 of the Companies Act, 1956 (corresponding Sec#on 197 of the 

Companies Act, 2013). The Company during the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 has provided for remunera#on 

aggrega#ng to Rs.1,700 thousands to the non-execu#ve Director in excess of Central Government approval. The Company 

is in the process of filing an applica#on with the Central Government for approval of aforesaid excess remunera#on paid/

payable to the non-execu#ve Director.The consequen#al impact, if any, on loss for the year ended 31 March 2015 and 

reserves and surplus cannot be currently ascertained.

c) We draw a$en#on to Note 40 to the financial statements wherein it is stated that the Company had wri$en back External 

Commercial Borrowings (ECB) aggrega#ng to Rs 16,506 thousands during the previous year. As per the Foreign Exchange 

Management Act, 1999 (FEMA) and related Master Circulars issued by the Reserve Bank of India (RBI), prior approval of 

RBI is required if the foreign currency payables are not repatriated as per the s#pulated #me. Accordingly, the write back 
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of such ECB will require prior approval of the RBI. The Company has since filed a compounding applica"on with the RBI 
with respect to the write back of the ECB. Pending disposal of these applica"ons by the RBI, the impact of the same, if 
any, with respect to non-compliance with FEMA, on loss for the year ended 31 March 2015 and reserves and surplus and 
current liabili"es cannot be currently ascertained.

d) The Company has advanced a sum of Rs 653 thousands to one of its directors, which is in contraven"on of Sec"on 185 of 
the Companies Act, 2013. The advance is outstandingas at 31 March 2015. The consequen"al impact, if any, of the non-
compliance with the Act on loss for the year ended 31 March 2015, reserves and surplus and current liabili"es cannot be 
currently ascertained.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our informa"on and according to the explana"ons given to us, except for the possible effects 

of the ma$er described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the aforesaid financial statements give the informa"on 

required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accoun"ng principles 

generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2015, and its loss and its cash flows for the 

year ended on that date.

Emphasis of Ma!er

We draw a$en"on to Note 39 to the financial statements, wherein it is stated that the Company has incurred a net loss of 

Rs18,071 thousands during the year ended 31 March 2015 and the Company’s net worth is substan"ally eroded. However, the 

Company’s opera"onal results have improved during the current year as compared to the earlier periods largely due to the cost 

saving and opera"onal efficiencies measures ini"ated by the management and con"nued financial support from the Holding 

and its group companies to the Company. Accordingly, in view of above, the management considers it appropriate to prepare 

its financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 on a going concern basis. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this ma$er.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2015 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India in 

terms of sub-sec"on (11) of sec"on 143 of the Companies Act, 2013, we give in the Annexure a statement on the ma$ers 

specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2 As required by Sec"on 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:

 (a) We have sought and,except for the possible effects of the ma$er described in paragraph (a) in the Basis for 

Qualified Opinion paragraph, obtained all the informa"on and explana"ons which to the best of our knowledge 

and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.

 (b) Except for the possible effects of the ma$er described in paragraph (a) in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, 

in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from 

our examina"on of those books.

 (c) The Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss, and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report are in 

agreement with the books of account.

 (d) Except for the possible effects of the ma$er described in paragraph (a) in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, 

in our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accoun"ng Standards specified under Sec"on 

133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rule, 2014.

 (e) The following ma$ers, in our opinion, may have an adverse effect on the func"oning of the Company:

  i. Non-provisioning of the employee wages and benefits as described in paragraph (a) in the Basis for qualified 

opinion paragraph; and

  ii. Going concern ma$er described in the Emphasis of ma$er paragraph

 (f) on the basis of the wri$en representa"on received from the directors as on 31 March 2015 taken on record by the 

Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2015 from being appointed as a director in 

terms of Sec"on 164 (2) of the Act.

 (g) The qualifica"on rela"ng to the maintenance of accounts and other ma$ers connected therewith are stated in the 

paragraph (a) in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph above.

 (h) With respect to other ma$ers to be included in the Auditor’s report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our informa"on and according to the explana"on 

given to us:

  i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending li"ga"ons on its financial posi"on in its financial statements 

– Refer Note 24(ii) and Note 25 to the financial statements;
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  ii. The Company did not have any long term contracts including deriva!ve contracts for which there were any 

material foreseeable losses;

  iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Educa!on and Protec!on Fund 

by the Company;

 For B S R & Co. LLP

 Chartered Accountants
 Firm Registra!on Number: 101248W/W-100022

 Jayanta Mukhopadhyay

Place : Kolkata Partner
Date: 13 June 2015 Membership no: 055757 

Annexure referred to in the Auditors’ report

(Referred to in our report of even date)

(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full par!culars, including quan!ta!ve details and situa!on 

of fixed assets;

 (b) The Company has a regular programme of physical verifica!on of its fixed assets by which all the fixed assets are 

verified in a phased manner over a period of two years. In our opinion, the frequency of physical verifica!on is 

reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its fixed assets. No material discrepancies 

were no!ced on such verifica!on.

(ii) (a) The inventory, except for goods in transit, has been physically verified by the management during the year. In 

our opinion, the frequency of such verifica!on is reasonable. For stocks lying with third par!es at the year end, 

confirma!ons have been obtained.

 (b) According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, the procedures for the physical verifica!on of inventories 

followed by the management are reasonable and adequate in rela!on to the size of the Company and the nature of 

its business.

 (c) The Company is maintaining proper records of inventory. The discrepancies no!ced on verifica!on between the 

physical stock and book records were not material.

(iii) According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, we are of the opinion that the Company has not granted any 

loans, secured or unsecured to companies, firms or other par!es covered in the register maintained under Sec!on 189 of 

the Act.

(iv) In our opinion and according to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, and having regard to the explana!on that 

purchases of certain items of inventories and fixed assets are for the Company’s specialised requirements and similarly 

certain goods sold are for the specialised requirements of the buyers and suitable alterna!ve sources are not available to 

obtain comparable quota!ons,there is an adequate internal control system commensurate with the size of the Company 

and the nature of its business with regard to purchase of inventories and fixed assets and sale of goods. The ac!vi!es of 

the Company do not involve sale of services.There is no con!nuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the internal 

control system.

(v) The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public during the year.

(vi) The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Sec!on 148(1) of the Act, for any of 

the products manufactured by the Company.

(vii) (a) According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us and on the basis of our examina!on of the records of the 

company, amounts deducted/ accrued in the books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including 

provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, sales tax, service tax, custom duty, excise duty, value 

added tax, cess and other material statutory dues have generally been regularly deposited during the year by the 

Company with the appropriate authori!es. As explained to us, the Company did not have any dues on account of 

Wealth tax. 

  According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of provident 

fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, custom duty, excise duty, value added tax, cess 

and other material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2015 for a period of more than six months from 

the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, there are no dues of incometax, sales tax, service tax, 

custom duty, excise duty,value added taxand cess which have not been deposited with the appropriate authori!es 

on account of any dispute except the following: 
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Name of the Statute Nature of 

the dues

Amount in Rs. 

Thousands

Period to which 

the amount 

relates

Forum where dispute is 

pending

Central Sales Tax Act, 1956 Sales tax 4,950 2010-11 Deputy Commissioner of 

Commercial Taxes (Appeals)

Foreign Trade (Development 

and Regula!on) Amendment 

Act, 2010

Custom Duty 17,928 2004-05 Addi!onal Director General of 

Foreign Trade

 (c) According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, no amount is required to be transferred to Investor 

Educa!on and Protec!on Fund in accordance with the relevant provision of the Companies Act, 1956 and rules 

made thereunder.

(viii) Without considering the effect of paragraphs (a), (c) and (d) described in Basis for Qualified Opinion Paragraph of the 

auditor’s report, the accumulated losses of the Company at the end of the financial year are not less than fi$y percent 

of its net-worth. Further, the Company has incurred cash losses during the current financial year and in the immediately 

preceding financial year. 

(ix) In our opinion and according to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, the Company did not have any outstanding 

debentures during the year. The Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to its bankers or financial ins!tu!ons 

exceptas follows :

Nature of dues Amount in 

Rsthousands

Period of default

Principal and Interest Repayment of working capital demand loan and 

overdra$ facili!es

100,420 18 days

(x) According to the informa!on and explana!on given to us, the Company has not given any guarantee for loans taken by 

others from bank or financial ins!tu!ons.

(xi) According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, the Company has not taken any term loans, therefore clause 

(xi) is not applicable.

(xii) According to the informa!on and explana!ons given to us, no fraud on or by the Company has been no!ced or reported 

during the year.

 For B S R & Co. LLP

 Chartered Accountants
 Firm Registra!on Number: 101248W/W-100022

 Jayanta Mukhopadhyay

Place : Kolkata Partner
Date: 13 June 2015 Membership no: 055757 
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Note 31st March 2015 31st March 2014

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ funds

Share capital     2  27,556  27,556 

Reserves and surplus  3  (23,825)  1,777 

 3,731  29,333 

Non-current liabili!es 

Long-term borrowings 4  618  –   

Long-term provisions 5  25,434  19,683 

 26,052  19,683 

Current liabili!es 

Short-term borrowing 6  1,00,420  98,000 

Trade payables 7  1,58,258  1,92,363 

Other current liabili!es 8  26,653  34,266 

Short-term provisions 5  19,206  22,226 

 3,04,537  3,46,855 

TOTAL  3,34,320  3,95,871 

ASSETS

Non-current assets 

Fixed assets  

Tangible fixed assets 9  98,093  1,14,955 

Intangible fixed assets 9  2,742  3,717 

Capital work-in-progress 9  –    5,401 

Non-current investments 10  5  5 

Long-term loans and advances 11  3,724  6,656 

Other non-current assets 12  286  134 

 1,04,850  1,30,868 

Current assets 

Inventories 13  81,475  1,04,320 

Trade receivables 14  1,27,370  1,40,951 

Cash and bank balances 15  7,534  7,450 

Short-term loans and advances 11  8,995  8,024 

Other current assets 12  4,096  4,258 

 2,29,470  2,65,003 

TOTAL  3,34,320  3,95,871 

Significant accoun!ng policies    1 

The notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2015

As per our report of even date a#ached 

For B S R & Co. LLP

Chartered Accountants
Firm Registra!on No.: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay R. Himatsingka K. K. Bha#acharya

Partner  Chairman Managing Director
Membership No.: 055757

Place : Kolkata Saugata De Pijush Bysack

Date : 13 June 2015 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer

Amount in Rs. thousands
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Note 31st March 2015 31st March 2014

REVENUE

Revenue from opera!ons 16  3,71,654  3,83,056 

Less : Excise duty [Net of excise duty refund Rs. 6,299 

(previous year Rs.6,238)]

 27,988  29,366 

 3,43,666  3,53,690 

Other income 17  26,684  64,748 

Total revenue  3,70,350  4,18,438 

Expenses

Cost of materials consumed 18  94,242  1,23,701 

Purchase of stock in trade 19  3,229  3,119 

Changes in inventories of finished goods, work in progress 

and stock in trade
20  9,542  (17,603)

Employee benefits 21  1,21,972  1,20,364 

Deprecia!on and amor!sa!on 9  18,321  12,847 

Other expenses 22  1,28,279  1,63,288 

Finance cost 23  11,836  11,204 

Total  3,87,421  4,16,920 

Profit / (Loss) Before Tax  (17,071)  1,518 

Tax Expenses for earlier years  1,000 –

Profit / (Loss) for the year  (18,071)  1,518 

Earnings per share 29

 [nominal value of share Rs 10 (previous year Rs 10)]

Basic  (6.56)  0.55 

Diluted  (6.56)  0.55 

Significant accoun"ng policies    1 

The notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2015

As per our report of even date a#ached  

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registra!on No.: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay R. Himatsingka K. K. Bha#acharya
Partner  Chairman Managing Director
Membership No.: 055757

Place : Kolkata Saugata De Pijush Bysack
Date : 13 June 2015 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer

Amount in Rs. thousands
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31st March 2015 31st March 2014

A.    Cash flow from opera"ng ac"vi"es
Profit/ (Loss) before tax (17,071)  1,518 

Adjusted for :

Deprecia"on and amor"sa"on 18,321  12,847 

Provision for doub#ul receivables 4,417  6,303 

Advances wri$en off  97  296 

Finance cost 11,836  11,204 

Interest income (246)  (21)

Provisions and Liabili"es no longer 

required wri$en back
(18,886)  (35,156)

Borrowings wri$en back  –    (16,506)

Unrealised foreign exchange loss / 

(gain) (net)
(5,504)  14,578 

Loss/ (profit) on sale / discard of  fixed 

asset
124  (12,796)

10,159  (19,251)

Opera"ng cash flow before working 

capital changes
(6,912) (17,733)

Changes in :

Trade receivables, loans and advances 

and other current assets
8,232 (11,495)

Inventories 22,845  1,855 

Trade payable, provisions and other 

liabili"es
(12,523) 16,445  

18,554  6,805

Net Cash provided by/ (used in) 
opera"ng ac"vi"es 11,642 (10,928)

B.    Cash flow from inves"ng ac"vi"es
Purchase of fixed assets (including net 

movement in capital WIP)
(3,055)  (6,191)

Proceeds from maturity of fixed 

deposits
 –    20 

Interest received 262  53 

Bank deposits (having maturity of 

more than 3 months)
(168)  –   

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets  304  15,661 

Net cash provided by/ (used in) 
inves"ng ac"vi"es (2,657) 9,543

Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2015
Amount in Rs. thousands
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2015 (Contd.)

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

C.    Cash flow from financing ac"vi"es
Proceeds from borrowings 3,170 15,000

Finance cost paid (12,071) (11,258)

Net cash provided by/ (used in) 

financing ac"vi"es
(8,901) 3,742

Net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents (A+B+C) 84 2,357

Cash and cash equivalents - opening 

balance
7,450 5,093

Cash and cash equivalents - closing 

balance
7,534 7,450

84 2,357

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Cash and cash equivalents as at the year 
end comprises of:
Cash on hand 140  178 

Balances with banks

- on current accounts  7,394  7,272 

7,534 7,450

As per our report of even date a#ached  

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registra"on No.: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay R. Himatsingka K. K. Bha#acharya
Partner  Chairman Managing Director
Membership No.: 055757

Place : Kolkata Saugata De Pijush Bysack
Date : 13 June 2015 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer

Amount in Rs. thousands



Annual Report 2014-2015Assam Carbon Products Limited 30

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

Background

Assam Carbon Products Limited is a public company. It is incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 and its shares are listed 

on the Calcu!a Stock Exchange Limited and the Guwaha" Stock Exchange. The Company is primarily engaged in manufacture 

of carbon products.

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 i. Basis of prepara!on of financial statements

  These financial statements have been prepared and presented on the accrual basis of accoun"ng and comply 

with the Accoun"ng Standards specified under Sec"on 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of the 

Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and other accoun"ng 

principles generally accepted in India, to the extent applicable. The financial statements are presented in Indian 

rupees rounded off to the nearest thousands.

 ii. Use of es!mates

  The prepara"on of financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accoun"ng Principles (GAAP) 

requires management to make judgments, es"mates and assump"ons that affect the applica"on of accoun"ng 
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabili"es, income and expenses and the disclosure of con"ngent liabili"es 
on the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those es"mates. Es"mates and underlying 
assump"ons are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Any revision to accoun"ng es"mates is recognised prospec"vely in 
current and future periods.

 iii. Current – non current classifica!on

  All assets and liabili"es have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal opera"ng cycle 
and other criteria set out in the Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the nature of opera"ons, the 
Company has ascertained its opera"ng cycle for the purpose of current – non current classifica"on of assets and 
liabili"es as 12 months.

  All assets and liabili"es are classified into current and non-current.

  Assets

  An asset is classified as current when it sa"sfies any of the following criteria:

  a.  it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consump"on in, the company’s normal opera"ng 
cycle;

  b.  it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

  c.  it is expected to be realised within 12 months a%er the repor"ng date; or

  d.  it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to se!le a liability for at least 
12 months a%er the repor"ng date.

  Current assets include the current por"on of non-current financial assets.

  All other assets are classified as non-current. 

  Liabili!es

  A liability is classified as current when it sa"sfies any of the following criteria:

  a.  it is expected to be se!led in the company’s normal opera"ng cycle;

  b.  it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

  c.  it is due to be se!led within 12 months a%er the repor"ng date; or

  d.  the company does not have an uncondi"onal right to defer se!lement of the liability for at least 12 months 
a%er the repor"ng date. Terms of a liability that could, at the op"on of the counterparty, result in its 
se!lement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classifica"on.

  Current liabili"es include current por"on of non-current financial liabili"es.

  All other liabili"es are classified as non-current.
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 iv. Fixed assets

  Fixed assets are stated at cost of acquisi!on (net of CENVAT) less accumulated deprecia!on. Cost of acquisi!on 

includes taxes, du!es, freight and other costs that are directly a"ributable to bringing assets to their working 

condi!on for their intended use.

  Spares that can be used only with par!cular items of plant and machinery and such usage is expected to be irregular 

are capitalised.

  Fixed assets under construc!on are disclosed as capital work in progress.

 v. Deprecia!on / amor!sa!on  

  Tangible fixed assets

  Deprecia!on on tangible fixed assets is provided under straight line method over useful lives of fixed assets, as 

es!mated by the management. Useful lives so es!mated are in line with the useful lives indicated by Schedule 

II to the Companies Act, 2013. Deprecia!on on addi!ons/ dele!ons are provided on pro rata basis in the year of 

purchase/ disposal.

  Intangible fixed assets  

  Applica!on so$ware is amor!sed over the es!mated economic useful life of 6 years.  

 vi. Impairment 

  The carrying amounts of fixed assets and capital work in progress are reviewed at each balance sheet date in 

accordance with Accoun!ng Standard 28 on ‘Impairment of Assets’, to determine whether there is any indica!on of 

impairment. If any such indica!on exists, the recoverable amounts of assets are es!mated at each repor!ng date. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or the cash genera!ng unit of which 

it is a part, exceeds the corresponding recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement 

of Profit and Loss. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the es!mates used to determine 

the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined net of deprecia!on or amor!sa!on, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised. 

 vii. Investments 

  Long term investments are stated at cost less amount wri"en off, where there is a diminu!on in value, other than 
temporary.

  Current investments are stated at lower of cost and fair value.

 viii. Inventories

  Raw materials, stores and spare parts are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes 
purchase price, du!es  and  taxes, freight and other expenditure incurred in bringing such inventories to their 
present loca!on and condi!on. In determining cost, weighted average method is used.  The carrying costs of raw 
materials, stores and spare parts are appropriately wri"en down when there is a decline in replacement cost of 
such materials and the finished products, in which they will be incorporated, are expected to be sold below cost.  

  Work in progress and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises of 
direct material, labour expenses and an appropriate por!on of produc!on overheads incurred in bringing the 
inventory to their present loca!on and condi!on. Fixed produc!on overheads are allocated on the basis of normal 
capacity of the produc!on facili!es. In determining cost, weighted average method is used.

  Traded finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

  Excise duty liability is included in the value of closing inventory of finished goods

 ix. Revenue 

  Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership in the goods are 
transferred to customers and it is not unreasonable to expect ul!mate collec!on of the sale considera!on that is 
being recognised as revenue.

  Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

  Interest income is recognised on a !me propor!on basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the 
interest rate applicable.
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 x. Income from Government Grant

  Grants and subsidies from the government are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the grant/

subsidy will be received and all a!aching condi"ons will be complied with. 

  When the grant or subsidy relates to an expense item, it is recognized as income over the periods necessary to 

match them on a systema"c basis to the costs, which it is intended to compensate. Where the grant or subsidy 

relates to depreciable assets, grants are treated as deferred income which is recognised in the Statement of Profit 

and Loss on a systema"c and ra"onal basis over the useful life of the asset. Such alloca"on to income is usually 

made over the periods and in the propor"ons in which deprecia"on on related assets is charged.

 xi. Foreign exchange transac!ons

  Foreign exchange transac"ons are recorded in the books of the Company at the exchange rate prevailing on the 

dates of the transac"ons.  Year-end monetary assets and liabili"es denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

at the year-end foreign exchange rates.

  Exchange differences arising on se!lements/ year-end transla"ons are recognised in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss for the year. 

 xii. Employee  benefits 

  The Company’s obliga"ons towards various employee benefits have been recognised as follows:

  Short term benefits

  Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified as short-term 
employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, bonus and ex-gra"a. The undiscounted amount of 
short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognised as an expense as the 
related service is rendered by employees.

  Post employment benefits

  a) Monthly contribu"ons to Provident Funds which are in the nature of defined contribu"on schemes are 
charged to Statement of Profit and Loss and deposited with the Provident Fund administered through the 
Company’s trust on a monthly basis

  b) The administra"on of the gratuity scheme which is in the nature of defined benefit plan, has been entrusted 
to Life Insurance Corpora"on of India (‘LIC’). Annual charge is recognised on the basis of actuarial valua"on 
at the Balance Sheet date, conducted by an independent actuary appointed by the Company and payments 
are made to LIC on the basis of annual demand received from them. The Company recognizes all actuarial 
gains and losses in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  Other long term benefits

  Cost of long term benefit by way of accumula"ng compensated absences are recognised when the employees 
render the service that increases their en"tlement to future compensated absences. Such costs are recognised 
based on actuarial valua"on of the Company’s year end obliga"on in this regard by an independent actuary.

  Termina!on benefits

  Costs of termina"on benefits have been recognised only when the Company has a present obliga"on as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an ou%low of resources will be required to se!le such obliga"on and the amount 

of the obliga"on can be reliably es"mated.   

 xiii. Income taxes

  Income-tax expense comprises current tax (i.e. amount of tax for the period determined in accordance with 

the income-tax law) and deferred tax charge or credit (reflec"ng the tax effects of "ming differences between 
accoun"ng income and taxable income for the period).  

  Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxa"on authori"es, using 
the applicable tax rates and tax laws. Deferred tax is recognised in respect of "ming differences between taxable 
income and accoun"ng income i.e. differences that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or 
more subsequent periods. The deferred tax charge or credit and the corresponding deferred tax liabili"es or assets 
are recognised using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substan"vely enacted by the balance 
sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent there is reasonable certainty that the assets can 
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be realised in future; however, where there is unabsorbed deprecia!on or carried forward loss under taxa!on 

laws, deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is a virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that 

sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. Deferred 

tax assets are reviewed as at each balance sheet date and wri#en down or wri#en-up to reflect the amount that is 

reasonably/virtually certain (as the case may be) to be realised. 

 xiv. Provisions and con�ngent liabili�es

  A provision is created when there is a present obliga!on as a result of a past event that probably requires an 

ou%low of resources and a reliable es!mate can be made of the amount of the obliga!on. A disclosure for a 

con!ngent liability is made when there is a possible obliga!on or a present obliga!on that may, but probably will 

not, require an ou%low of resources. When there is a possible obliga!on or a present obliga!on in respect of which 

the likelihood of ou%low of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made. Con!ngent assets are neither 

recognised nor disclosed in the financial statements. However, con!ngent assets are assessed con!nually and if it 

is virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and related income are recognised in the 

period in which the change occurs.

 xv. Opera�ng leases

  Lease payments under opera!ng lease arrangements are recognised as expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss 

on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

 xvi. Earnings per share

  Basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the 

year. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of equity and dilu!ve equity 

equivalent shares outstanding at the year end, except where the results would be an! dilu!ve.  

2 SHARE CAPITAL Amount in Rs. thousands

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Number of 

shares 

Amount Number of 

shares 

Amount 

Authorised shares

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each  98,00,000  98,000  98,00,000  98,000 

Cumula!ve conver!ble preference shares of ` 100 each fully 

paid up
 20,000  2,000  20,000  2,000 

 98,20,000  1,00,000  98,20,000  1,00,000 

Issued, subscribed and fully paid up equity shares of ` 10 each  27,55,600  27,556  27,55,600  27,556 

Reconcilia�on of the shares outstanding at the beginning 

and at the end of the repor�ng period

Equity shares of ` 10 each fully paid up

At the commencement and at the end of the year  27,55,600  27,556  27,55,600  27,556 

Terms a!ached to equity shares

Each holder of equity shares is en!tled to one vote per share with a right to receive per share dividend declared by the Company. 

In the event of liquida!on, the equity shareholders are en!tled to receive remaining assets of the Company (a'er distribu!on 

of all preferen!al amounts) in the propor!on of equity shares held by the shareholders.  The dividend proposed by the Board 

of Directors are subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Mee!ng.

Terms a!ached to preference shares

Preference shares of both classes carry a preferen!al right as to dividend over equity shareholders. The preference shares are 

en!tled to one vote per share at mee!ngs of the Company on any resolu!ons of the company directly affec!ng their rights. In 

the event of liquida!on, preference shareholders have a preferen!al right over equity shareholders to be repaid to the extent 

of capital paid-up and dividend in arrears on such shares.
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4 LONG TERM BORROWINGS

Non-current por"on Current por"on*
31 March 

2015
31 March 

2014

31 March 
2015

31 March 

2014

Vehicle loan (secured)  618 – 132 –

 618 – 132 –

* Amount disclosed under “other current liabili!es” 

The loan balance is repayable along with interest through equated monthly instalments as s!pulated by the lender. 

The loan carries an interest rate of 11.50% and is secured against hypotheca!on of assets acquired from the proceeds of such 

loan.        

3 RESERVES AND SURPLUS

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Capital reserve 
At the commencement and at the end of the year  3,606  3,606 

Capital redemp"on reserve 
At the commencement and at the end of the year  2,244  2,244 

General reserve
At the commencement of the year  11,675  11,675 

Less : Deprecia!on charge (Refer Note 43)  7,531  –   

 4,144  11,675 
Surplus/(Deficit) [profit and loss balance]
At the commencement of the year  (15,748)  (17,266)

Add : Profit/(loss) for the year  (18,071)  1,518 

At the end of the year  (33,819)  (15,748)
 (23,825)  1,777 

2 SHARE CAPITAL �Contd.)

Shares held by holding/ul"mate holding company and/or their subsidiaries
31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Number of 
shares 

Amount Number of 

shares 

Amount 

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up held by :

Morgan Advanced Materials Plc, holding Company 

(earlier known as Morgan Crucible Co Plc.)

 7,92,927  79,293  7,92,927  79,293 

Par"culars of shareholders holding more than 5% shares of the Company
31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Number of 
shares 

% of holding Number of 

shares 

% of holding

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up held by 

Morgan Advanced Materials Plc, holding Company  7,92,927 29%  7,92,927 29%

Mr. Prabhat C Goenka*  6,62,375 24%  6,62,375 24%

Mrs. Anita Himatsingka  2,75,025 10%  2,75,025 10%

* Includes 3,922 equity shares jointly held with others.

Amount in Rs. thousands
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5 PROVISIONS 

Long-term Short-term 

31 March 

2015

31 March 

2014

31 March 

2015

31 March 

2014

Provision for employee benefits 

Gratuity (refer note 31)  16,842  11,412  4,888  5,668 

Compensated absences  8,592  8,271  706  1,238 

Provision for con"ngencies  –    –    10,000  10,000 

Provision for warran"es  –    –    3,612  5,320 

 25,434  19,683  19,206  22,226 

Movement of provisions
Provision for 

con!ngencies

Provision for 

warran"es

Balance as at 1 April 2014  10,000  5,320 

 (10,000)            (10,724) 

Add: Provision during the year  –    –   

             (–)              (–) 

Less: U"lised during the year  –    1,708 

             (–)              (2,815) 

Less: Reversed during the year  –    –   

 –                (2,589) 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  10,000  3,612 

           (10,000)              (5,320) 

(previous year figures are in bracket)

a)    Provision for con!ngencies      

The Company had entered into a memorandum of se#lement with workers of Guwaha" factory in the earlier years 
pursuant to which the Company had agreed to pay a certain amount to workers on achievement of desired produc"vity 
norms. Based on the agreement and as es"mated by the management, the Company has set aside Rs. 10,000 as provision 
for future con"ngencies on account of various personnel costs which may result in possible ou$low of resources.

b)    Provision for warran!es    

Cost of free replacement of materials was provided in the earlier years based on the es"mate of total costs to be incurred 
with respect to free replacement of defec"ve materials sold to various customers. The closing balance of provision 
represents the probable replacement due at a future date.

6 SHORT"TERM BORROWINGS

Secured/ 

unsecured

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Loans repayable on demand 
From banks

Working capital demand loan Secured (a) –  98,000
From related par"es

Morgan Advanced Materials Plc, Ul"mate holding company Unsecured (b)  1,00,420  –   
 1,00,420  98,000 

a)    The working capital demand loan was secured by first paripassu charge by way of hypotheca"on of stocks, book debts of 
the Company both present and future and corporate guarantee from Morgan Advanced Materials Plc, Ul"mate holding 
company. The Working capital demand loan is repayable on demand and carries interest at the rate 11% to 13% per 
annum.

b)    The working capital demand loan taken by the Company has been repaid by Morgan Advanced Materials Plc, Ul"mate 
holding company, being the corporate guarantor of the loan along with outstanding interest and other dues to the bank. 
The dues to Morgan Advanced Materials Plc, Ul"mate holding company, on account of the above se#lement are repayable 
on demand and do not carry any interest.    

Amount in Rs. thousands
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7 TRADE PAYABLES

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Trade payables  1,58,258  1,92,363 

Details of dues to Micro and Small Enterprises as per Micro, Small and Medium 

Enterprise Development Act, 2006 (MSMED):

Par!culars

The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the end of the year

- Principal  4,113  651 

- Interest  177  –   

The amount of interest paid by the buyer as per the MSMED  –    –   

The amounts of the payments made to micro and small suppliers beyond the 

appointed day during each accoun!ng year

– –

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment 

(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without 

adding the interest specified under MSMED

494 393

8 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current maturi!es of long term borrowings  132  –   

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  –    235 

Creditor for capital goods  5,139  5,152 

Advance from customer  1,830  2,790 

Statutory dues payable  5,727  7,026 

Employee liabili!es  13,825  19,063 

 26,653  34,266 

9 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

 Freehold 

Land 
 Buildings 

 Plant and 

Machineries 

Furniture & 

Fi!ngs

 Office 

Equipments 
 Vehicles  Total 

Gross Block

Balance as at 1 April 2013  1,853  34,031  2,36,203  5,013  19,508  4,878  3,01,486 

Addi!ons  –    221  726  138  674  –    1,759 

Disposals  –    –    3,812  236  4,030  371  8,449 

Balance as at 31 March 2014  1,853  34,252  2,33,117  4,915  16,152  4,507  2,94,796 

Balance as at 1 April 2014  1,853  34,252  2,33,117  4,915  16,152  4,507  2,94,796 

Addi!ons  –    –    6,141  163  653  1,241  8,198 

Disposals  –    –    –    786  581  1,067  2,434 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  1,853  34,252  2,39,258  4,292  16,224  4,681  3,00,560 

Deprecia!on

Balance as at 1 April 2013  –    16,563  1,38,290  4,120  14,400  2,671  1,76,044 

Deprecia!on for the Year  –    967  9,271  174  1,101  398  11,911 

Accumulated deprecia!on on Disposals  –    –    3,651  221  3,933  309  8,114 

Balance as at 31 March 2014  –    17,530  1,43,910  4,073  11,568  2,760  1,79,841 

Balance as at 1 April 2014  –    17,530  1,43,910  4,073  11,568  2,760  1,79,841 

Deprecia!on for the Year  –    662  15,129  124  980  451  17,346 

Deprecia!on adjusted with General 

Reserves (Refer Note 43)
 –    2,802  2,403  182  2,077  67  7,531 

Accumulated deprecia!on on Disposals  –    –    –    743  551  957  2,251 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  –    20,994  1,61,442  3,636  14,074  2,321  2,02,467 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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9 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (Contd.)

 Freehold 

Land 
 Buildings 

 Plant and 

Machineries 

Furniture & 

Fi!ngs

 Office 

Equipments 
 Vehicles  Total 

Net Block

As at 31 March 2014  1,853  16,722  89,207  842  4,584  1,747  1,14,955 

As at 31 March 2015  1,853  13,258  77,816  656  2,150  2,360  98,093 

9 INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

 Computer 

So#ware

Gross Block

Balance as at 1 April 2013  4,198 

Addi!ons  2,099 

Balance as at 31 March 2014  6,297 

Balance as at 1 April 2014  6,297 

Addi$ons  –   

Balance as at 31 March 2015  6,297 

Amor$sa$on

Balance as at 1 April 2013  1,644 

Amor!sa!on for the year  936 

Balance as at 31 March 2014  2,580 

Balance as at 1 April 2014  2,580 

Amor!sa!on for the year  975 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  3,555 

Net Block

As at 31 March 2014  3,717 

As at 31 March 2015  2,742 

Capital work-in-progress

Balance as at 1 April 2013  4,144 

Addi!on  1,257 

Balance as at 31 March 2014  5,401 

Balance as at 1 April 2014  5,401 

Addi$on  –   

Capitalised/discarded during the 

year

 5,401 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  –   

10 NON%CURRENT INVESTMENT (valued at cost unless otherwise stated)

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Non-trade investment

Un-Quoted equity shares

500 (previous year 500) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up in Assam 

Petrochemicals Limited
5 5

Amount in Rs. thousands
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11 LOANS AND ADVANCES  

Long-term Short-term 

31 March 

2015

31 March 

2014

31 March 

2015

31 March 

2014

To par!es other than related par!es

Security deposits 

Unsecured, considered good  3,437  5,369  1,986  1,867 

 3,437  5,369  1,986  1,867 

Other loans and advances  

Unsecured considered good, unless otherwise stated 

Advances to employees and directors*  –    –    2,031  1,543 

Balance with excise and sale tax authori!es  –    –    1,341  1,464 

Prepaid expenses  –    –    2,277  2,338 

Advance income-tax  287  1,287  –    –   

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be 

received

- Considered good  –    –    1,360  812 

- Considered doub"ul  –    –    1,371  1,371 

 287  1,287  8,380  7,528 

Less: Provision for doub"ul advances    –    –    1,371  1,371 

 287  1,287  7,009  6,157 

 3,724  6,656  8,995  8,024 

* includes advances to directors agrega!ng to Rs. 653 (previous year Nil)

12 OTHER ASSETS 

Non-current Current 

31 March 

2015

31 March 

2014

31 March 

2015

31 March 

2014

Unsecured considered good, unless otherwise stated 

Interest accrued on bank deposits  –    16  –    –   

Others receivable  –    –    4,096  4,258 

Bank deposits due to mature a#er 12 months from the 

repor!ng date (Refer note 15) - Held as margin money
 286  118  –    –   

 286  134  4,096  4,258 

13 INVENTORIES  (Valued at lower of cost and net realizable value)

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Raw materials [including in transit Rs. 4,440 (previous year Rs. 5,277)]  21,902  34,528 

Stores and spares parts  4,571  5,248 

Work-in-progress  46,097  53,315 

Finished goods       

- Manufactured  8,354  10,597 

- Traded  551  632 

 81,475  1,04,320 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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14 TRADE RECEIVABLES 

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Receivables outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the date they are due for payment 

Unsecured, considered good  33,725  28,131 

Unsecured, considered doub!ul  60,273  55,856 

 93,998  83,987 

Less: Provision for doub!ul receivables  60,273  55,856 

 33,725  28,131 

Other receivables

Unsecured, considered good  93,645  1,12,820 

 93,645  1,12,820 

 1,27,370  1,40,951 

15 CASH AND BANK BALANCES  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Balance with banks:

Current accounts  7,394  7,272 

Cash on hand  140  178 

 7,534  7,450 

Details of deposits

Bank deposits due to mature within 12 months of the repor"ng date included under  286  118 

‘Other bank balances’

16 REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS 

Sale of products

Own manufactured  3,62,523  3,73,265 

Traded  6,890  6,287 

Sale of products (gross)*  3,69,413  3,79,552 

Less : excise duty [net of excise duty refund Rs. 6,299 (previous year Rs.6,238)]  27,988  29,366 

 3,41,425  3,50,186 

Other opera"ng income 

Scrap sales  2,241  3,504 

Total  3,43,666  3,53,690 

(*) Sale of products 

Manufactured

EG, HC, NG and RB carbon blocks  47,308  46,147 

MG and SG carbon blocks  9,054  10,953 

Electrical carbon brushes  1,59,164  1,52,499 

Mechanical and Special Carbon components  1,35,082  1,47,961 

ISO Graphite components  11,097  15,084 

Others  818  621 

 3,62,523  3,73,265 

Traded 

Carbon Brushes  6,574  5,918 

Commutator Maintenance Accessories  316  369 

 6,890  6,287 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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17 OTHER INCOME 

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Interest income  246  21 

Provision and liabili!es no longer required wri"en back  4,027  10,210 

Profit on sale / discard of fixed assets  –    12,796 

Payables to related par!es wri"en back (Refer Note 40)  14,859  24,946 

Borrowings from related par!es wri"en back (Refer Note 40)  –    16,506 

Gain on foreign exchange fluctua!ons (net)  5,797  –   

Miscellaneous income  1,755  269 

 26,684  64,748 

18 COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED 

Opening Stock  34,528  53,365 

Add : Purchases  81,616  1,04,864 

 1,16,144  1,58,229 

Less : Closing Stock  21,902  34,528 

 94,242  1,23,701 

Break up of cost of material consumed   

Lamp black, carbon black, coke, natural & synthe!c graphite, pitch etc.  27,901  44,178 

Non ferrous metals, copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes etc.  21,413  20,441 

Copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes, rodes etc.  12,494  13,783 

Carbon brush components  7,374  7,715 

ISO graphite & carbon blocks, blanks etc.  20,508  30,536 

Others  4,552  7,048 

 94,242  1,23,701 

Breakup of inventory - materials

Lamp black, carbon black, coke, natural & synthe!c graphite, pitch etc.  6,632  7,744 

Non ferrous metals, copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes etc.  1,425  1,616 

Copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes, rodes etc.  3,509  4,723 

Carbon brush components  1,826  2,117 

ISO graphite & carbon blocks, blanks etc.  7,325  15,876 

Others  1,185  2,452 

 21,902  34,528 

19 PURCHASES OF STOCK IN TRADE

Carbon brushes  3,085  2,261 

Commutator Maintenance Accessories  144  858 

 3,229  3,119 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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20 CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORK IN PROGRESS AND STOCK!IN!TRADE

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Opening inventory

Work-in-progress  53,537  35,031 

Finished goods

- Manufactured  10,375  10,654 

- Traded  632  1,256 

 64,544  46,941 

Less :

Closing inventory

Work-in-progrWess 46,097  53,315 

Finished goods

- Manufactured 8,354  10,597 

- Traded 551  632 

Net increase  9,542  (17,603)

21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Salaries, wages and bonus  95,385  94,946 

Contribu!on to Provident and other funds  13,388  13,004 

Workmen staff welfare expense  13,199  12,414 

 1,21,972  1,20,364 

22 OTHER EXPENSES 

Stores and spares parts consumed  13,592  20,888 

Power and fuel  48,364  49,687 

Fabrica!on costs  9,987  8,986 

Repairs to:

- building  1,176  694 

- plant and machinery  2,970  4,610 

- others  1,855  1,780 

Insurance  1,604  2,021 

Rent (Refer note 30)  2,442  2,171 

Commission - others  1,505  1,952 

Packing and freight  5,402  6,073 

Travelling expenses  10,676  11,763 

Provision for doub#ul trade receivables  4,417  6,303 

Advances wri$en off  97  296 

Rates and taxes  839  1,860 

Legal and professional fees  7,819  11,693 

Auditors' remunera!on (refer note 37)  1,499  1,970 

Non execu!ve directors' fees  1,815  150 

Loss on sale / discard of fixed assets  124  –   

Loss on foreign exchange fluctua!ons (net)  –    19,547 

Excise duty related to increase / decrease in inventory of finished goods  824  625 

Postage and telephone  1,876  2,009 

Security charges  2,766  2,457 

Bank charges  255  701 

Miscellaneous expenses  6,375  5,052 

 1,28,279  1,63,288 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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23 FINANCE COST 

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Interest on

- Others  11,836  11,204 

 11,836  11,204 

24 CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (to the extent not provided for)

(i)   Es!mated amount of contracts (net of advances) remaining to be executed on 

       Capital account and not provided for
– –

(ii)  The issue of payment of back wages during the period of strike / lock-out at the Company’s Guwaha! Unit employees 

effec!ve from 7 December 2010 to 8 March 2012 has been referred to appropriate authori!es. However, the Company, 

on the principle of ‘No Work No Pay’, has neither ascertained nor made any provision for payment of such wages and 

other employee benefits for the period of strike and lock out. The labour ma$er is currently pending with the labour 
commissioner.

25 CONTINGENT LIABILITY NOT PROVIDED FOR

(i)    Sales tax ma$ers under appeal  5,657 –
(ii)   Custom duty ma$er under appeal  17,928 –

26

The Company has established a comprehensive system of maintenance of informa!on and documents as required by 
the transfer pricing legisla!on under Sec!on 92-92F of the Income - Tax Act, 1961. Since the law requires the existence 
of such informa!on and documenta!on to be contemporaneous in nature, the Company is in the process of upda!ng the 
documenta!on of the Interna!onal transac!ons entered into with the associated enterprises from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 
2015 and expects such records to be in existence within the due date. The management is of the opinion that its interna!onal 
transac!on are at arm’s length so that the aforesaid legisla!on will not have any impact on the financial statements, par!cularly 
on the amount of tax expense and that of provision for taxa!on.

27 The Company has not hedged the following foreign currency exposure as at the year end.

GBP
Equivalent

Rs.
Euro

Equivalent

Rs.
US Dollar

Equivalent

Rs.

Trade Payables  1,079  1,00,402  107  7,255  256  16,006 
 (1,229)  (122,122)  (129) (10,763) (240) (14,319)

Trade Receivables  318  29,611  –    –    11  685 
 (266)  (26,433)  (-)  (-) (11) (654)

Other Receivable  –    –    4  279  –    –   
 (2)  (232)  (-)  (-)  (-)  (-)

(Previous year figures are in brackets) 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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28 DEFERRED TAX

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Deferred tax assets

Provision for doub!ul receivables and advances  19,048  17,683 

Provision for employee benefits  9,588  8,215 

Provision for warran#es  1,116  1,644 

Carried forward tax losses  36,209  36,333 

Total  65,961  63,875 

Deferred tax liabili#es

Difference between wri%en down value of fixed assets as per books of accounts and 

for tax purposes
 16,723  22,053 

Total  16,723  22,053 

Deferred tax asset / (liability) [net] 49,238  41,822 

Note: In view of absence of virtual certainty of realisa#on of deferred tax asset in the foreseeable future, deferred tax asset is 

not recognised in the financial statements.
  

29 EARNINGS PER SHARE

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

(a)  Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year  27,55,600  27,55,600 

(b)  Net profit / (loss) a&er tax a%ributable to equity shareholders (Rs. ‘000)  (18,071)  1,518 

(c)  Basic and diluted profit / (loss) per equity share of face value Rs. 10 (Rs.)  (6.56)  0.55 

30

(a)   Cancellable Opera!ng Leases: 

The Company has taken various office and residen#al premises on opera#ng lease arrangements. These agreements are for 

a period of 11 months to 3 years, cancellable during the life of the contract at the op#on of both the par#es. 

(b)   Non- Cancellable Opera!ng Leases:

The Company  acquired one vehicle under non-cancellable opera#ng lease agreement. Future minimum lease payments 

outstanding as on 31 March 2015 are given below : 

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Not later than one year  520  672 

Later than one year but not later than five years  44  564 

 564  1,236 

(c)   Minimum lease payment (under both cancellable and non cancellable leases) charged during the year to the Statement of 

        Profit and Loss aggregated to Rs. 2,442 (Previous year Rs. 2,171).

Amount in Rs. thousands
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31 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Disclosures made in accordance with Accoun!ng Standard 15 - Employee Benefits (AS 15) pertaining to defined benefit plans:

31st March 2015

Gratuity Funded

31st March 2014

Gratuity Funded

(i) Net Asset / (liability) recognised in Balance sheet as at the year end

Present value of defined obliga!on at year end  50,684  45,780 

Fair value of plan assets at year end  28,954  28,700 

Net Asset / (liability) recognised in the balance sheet  (21,730)  (17,080)

(ii) Components of employer expense

Current service costs  2,585  2,399 

Interest costs  3,463  3,621 

Expected return on plan assets  (2,583)  (3,022)

Actuarial loss recognised  2,225  1,492 

Expense recognised in the statement of profit and loss  5,690  4,490 

The gratuity expenses have been recognised in 'Contribu!on to Provident and 

other funds' under note 21

(iii) Change in defined benefit obliga"ons :

Obliga!on at beginning of the year  45,780  46,349 

Service cost  2,585  2,399 

Interest cost  3,463  3,621 

Actuarial loss recognised  3,830  899 

Benefits paid  (4,974)  (7,488)

Defined benefit obliga"on at end of the year  50,684  45,780 
(iv) Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year  28,700  32,676 

Expected return on plan assets  2,583  3,022 

Employer's contribu!on  1,040  1,082 

Benefit paid  (4,974)  (7,488)

Actuarial gain / (loss) recognised  1,605  (592)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year             28,954  28,700 

(v) Deficit  (21,730)  (17,080)

(vi) Actual return on plan assets:  4,188  2,430 

(vii) Category of assets as at year end:
Invested in Life Insurance Corpora!on of India  28,954  28,700 

(viii) Assump"ons:
Discount rate 8.00% 8.50%

Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00%

Infla!on rate 9.00% 8.00%

Amount in Rs. thousands
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The es!mates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valua!on, take into account infla!on, seniority, promo!ons 

and other relevant factors.

Sl. Par�culars 2014-15 

Gratuity 

Funded

2013-14 

Gratuity 

Funded

2012-13 

Gratuity 

Funded

2011-12 

Gratuity 

Funded

2010-11 

Gratuity 

Funded

(viii) Experience history

Defined benefit obliga!on at the end of 

the year

 50,684  45,780  46,349  49,206  42,609 

Plan assets at the end of the year  28,954  28,700  32,676  39,632  23,157 

Funded Status  (21,730)  (17,080)  (13,673)  (9,574)  (19,452)

Experience gain/(loss) adjustment on plan 

liabili�es

 (1,971)  799  (3,125)  (10,346)  295 

Actuarial gain/(loss) due to change in 

assump!on

(1,930) (1,290) (1,167) 7,480 (9,253)

Experience gain/(loss) adjustment on plan 

assets

 1,676  (1,001)  788  504  294 

(ix) Major category of Plan Assets as a % of the 

Total Plan assets as at the year end

Invested in Life Insurance Corpora!on of 

India

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

(x) Basis used to determine the Expected Rate 

of return on Plan Assets

The expected rate of return on plan assets is based on the current por$olio of assets, investment strategy and market 

scenario. In order to protect capital and op!mise returns within acceptable risk parameters, the plan assets are well 

diversified.

32 SEGMENT REPORTING

Export Domes�c Total

31st March 

2015

31st March 

2014

31st March 

2015

31st March 

2014

31st March 

2015

31st March 

2014

Revenue from Opera!on  12,681  42,175  3,58,973  3,40,881  3,71,654  3,83,056 

Less: Excise duty  –    –    27,988  29,366  27,988  29,366 

Revenue from Opera!on (Net)  12,681  42,175  3,30,985  3,11,515  3,43,666  3,53,690 

Other income  764  3,863  23,526  31,293  24,290  35,156 

Other income - unallocable  –    –    –    –    2,394  29,592 

Segment revenue  13,445  46,038  3,54,511  3,42,808  3,70,350  4,18,438 

Segment result  296  2,127  2,921  7,583  3,217  9,710 

Unallocated expenses (net of 

income)
 –    –    –    –    8,452  (3,012)

Finance cost  –    –    –    –    11,836  11,204 

Profit/ (Loss) before tax  –    –    –    –    (17,071)  1,518 

Less : Tax expenses  1,000  –   

Profit/ (Loss) for the year  (18,071)  1,518 

Other Informa�on :

Segment assets  30,375  27,148  96,995  1,12,404  1,27,370  1,39,552 

Unallocated assets  2,06,950  2,56,319 

Total assets  3,34,320  3,95,871 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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Export Domes�c Total

31st March 

2015

31st March 

2014

31st March 

2015

31st March 

2014

31st March 

2015

31st March 

2014

Segment liabili!es  5,854  23,105  1,57,847  1,73,108  1,63,701  1,96,213 

Unallocated liabili!es  1,66,888  1,70,325 

Share Capital  –    –    –    –    27,556  27,556 

Reserves and surplus  –    –    –    –    (23,825)  1,777 

Total liabili�es  3,34,320  3,95,871 

Cost incurred to acquire fixed 

asset
 –    –    –    –    –    –   

Unallocable  –    –    –    –    3,042  5,115 

Deprecia�on/amor�sa�on  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Unallocable  –    –    –    –    18,321  12,847 

Significant non cash expenses  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Nature of 

rela�onship
Sales Purchases Loan

Payables 

wri"en back
Remunera�on 

paid
Professional 

fees

Receivable/
(payable) at 

year end

Morgan Advanced Material plc
Holding 

company
 –    –    1,00,420  –    –    –   (1,05,806)

Morgan AM&T (SEA) Pte 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 –    5,122  –    –    –    –    (5,766)

Shanghai Morgan Carbon 

Co. Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 –    –    –    –    –    –   (7,655)

Morgan Electrical Carbon 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 3,774  7,568  –    14,859  –    –   (70,306)

Morgan Hungary KFT
Fellow 

subsidiary
 1,392  –    –    –    –    –   745

Morganite Luxembourg 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 146  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Morganite South Africa pty 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 –    296  –    –    –    –    –   

Morgan Carbon Italia
Fellow 

subsidiary
 –    –    –    –    –    –   (3,817)

Mr. Prabhat C Goenka*

Key 

management 

personnel

 –    –    –    –    –    3,295  653 

Mr. K. K. Bha"acharjee

Key 

management 

personnel

 –    –    –    –    803  –    –   

Total  5,312  12,986  1,00,420  14,859  803  3,295 –

*Director !ll 7 January 2015

33 Related Party Disclosures in accordance with Accoun�ng Standard 18 prescribed by Companies 
(Accoun�ng Standard) Rules, 2006. :

 (a)  Related par�es (where control exists)
  Bodies corporate having control over the Company Morgan Advanced Material plc, Holding Company 

 (b)  Related par�es with whom there have been transac�ons during the year:

Amount in Rs. thousands
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 (c)  Related par�es with whom there have been transac�ons during the previous year :

Nature of 

rela�onship
Sales Purchases

Borrowings 

wri!en back

Payables 

wri!en back

Remunera�on 

paid

Professional 

fees

Receivable/

(payable) at 

year end

Morgan Advanced Material plc
Holding 

company
 –    –    16,506  –    –    –   (5,517)

Morgan AM&T (SEA) Pte 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 –    5,160  –    –    –    –    (5,548)

Shanghai Morgan Carbon 

Co. Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 19,358  3,471  –    –    –    –   (7,217)

Morgan Electrical Carbon 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 12,973  7,966  –    24,946  –    –   (93,771)

Morgan Hungary KFT
Fellow 

subsidiary
 5,455  1,303  –    –    –    –   (985)

Morgan Korea Company 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 311  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Morganite Luxembourg 

Limited

Fellow 

subsidiary
 754  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Morgan Carbon Italia
Fellow 

subsidiary
 –    –    –    –    –    –   (4,604)

Mr. V S Lokre

Key 

management 

personnel

 –    –    –    –    2,397  –    –   

Mr. Prabhat C Goenka

Key 

management 

personnel

 –    –    –    –    –    1,098  –   

Total  38,851  17,900  16,506  24,946  2,397  1,098  – 

34 DETAILS OF INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS

Class of goods 31st March 2015 31st March 2014

EG, HC, NG and RB carbon blocks  –    1,438 

MG and SG carbon blocks  17  148 

Electrical carbon brushes  5,435  4,803 

Mechanical and special carbon blocks and blanks  –    95 

Machined and special carbon components  2,547  3,821 

Copper Molding and Linking Power  –    6 

ISO-Graphite components  355  286 

Total  8,354  10,597 

35 DETAILS OF INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS

Class of goods 31st March 2015 31st March 2014

Trading Brush  113  181 

Commutator maintenance accessories  438  451 

Total  551  632 

Amount in Rs. thousands
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36 DETAILS OF IMPORTED AND INDIGENOUS RAW MATERIALS AND STORES AND SPARE PARTS CONSUMPTION

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Amount % of total 

consump!on

Amount % of total 

consump!on

Raw materials

Imported  43,844  47  57,336  46 

Indigenous  50,398  53  66,365  54 

 94,242  100  1,23,701  100 

Stores and spares

Imported  191  1  –    –   

Indigenous  13,401  99  20,888  100 

 13,592  100  20,888  100 

Total  1,07,834  1,44,589 

37 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION INCLUDES

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

(a)  Statutory audit fees  790  790 

(b)  Limited Reviews  550  550 

(c)  Cer!fica!on and Other assignments  50  235 

(d)  Reimbursement of out of pocket expenses for (a), (b) and (c) above  59  200 

(e)  Service tax  50  195 

 1,499  1,970

38 VALUE OF IMPORTS ON C.I.F. BASIS

Raw materials  27,789 38,361

Trading items  138  199 

39 The Company has incurred a net loss of Rs 18,071 during the year ended 31 March 2015. However, the Company’s 

opera!onal results have improved during the current year as compared to the earlier periods largely due to the 

cost saving and opera!onal efficiencies measures ini!ated by the management. Further, the Holding and its group 

companies will con!nue its financial support to the Company. In view of the same, the financial statements have been 

prepared on a going concern basis for the current year. 

40 The Company had wri$en back External Commercial Borrowings (ECB) aggrega!ng to Rs 16,506 during the previous year 

without the prior approval of the  Reserve Bank of India (RBI). The Company has since filed a compounding applica!on 

with the RBI with respect to the write back of the ECB. The RBI’s approval in this regards is awaited.

41 EXPENDITURE AND EARNINGS IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE

31st March 2015 31st March 2014

(a)  Earnings in foreign currency

Exports on F.O.B. basis  6,051 41,548

Reimbursement of expenses  842  866 

(b)  Expenditure in foreign currency  –    –   

Amount in Rs. thousands
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42 The Central Government has approved the payment of remunera!on to the non-execu!ve Director subject to 1% of 

the net profit of the Company as computed under sec!on 198 of the Companies Act, 1956 (‘Act’). In view of inadequate 

profits, the Company during the year 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 had not made a provision for managerial 

remunera!on aggrega!ng to Rs.1,700 payable to the non-execu!ve Director. The Company has filed an applica!on 

with the Central Government for approval of aforesaid remunera!on. The same will be accrued and paid to the non-

execu!ve Director on receipt of approval from the Central Government.

43 During the year ended 31 March 2015, according to Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013, the management based on 

an internal evalua!on have reassessed the remaining es!mated useful life of fixed assets, with effect from 1 April 2014. 

Accordingly, the useful life of certain assets required a change from the previous es!mates. Had the Company con!nued 

with the previously assessed useful lives, deprecia!on charge for the year ended 31 March 2015 would have been lower 

by Rs. 5,873. Further, based on transi!onal provision provided in note no.7 (b) of Schedule II of The Companies Act 

2013, an amount of Rs. 7,531 has been adjusted against retained earnings.

As per our report of even date a$ached  

For B S R & Co. LLP 

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registra!on No.: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay R. Himatsingka K. K. Bha!acharya

Partner  Chairman Managing Director

Membership No.: 055757

Place : Kolkata Saugata De Pijush Bysack

Date : 13 June 2015 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer
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